Heat kernels on metric measure spaces with regular volume growth

Alexander Grigor'yan^{*} Department of Mathematics University of Bielefeld 33501 Bielefeld, Germany grigor@math.uni-bielefeld.de

August 2008

Abstract

In this survey we study heat kernel estimates of self-similar type on metric measure spaces with regular volume growth. One of the main results is the dichotomy phenomenon in such estimates: either they are sub-Gaussian like in the setting of diffusions on fractals, or they have a polynomial tail as the symmetric stable processes in \mathbb{R}^n . Despite the probabilistic motivation, all the statements and proofs are completely analytic.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 47D07, Secondary 58J35, 46E35, 28A80 Keywords and phrases. Heat kernel, metric measure space, maximum principle, heat semigroup

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2
	1.1	Heat kernel in \mathbb{R}^n	3
	1.2	Heat kernels on Riemannian manifolds	4
	1.3	Heat kernels of fractional powers of Laplacian	5
	1.4	Heat kernels on fractal spaces	6
	1.5	Summary of examples	8
2	Abs	tract heat kernels	8
	2.1	Basic definitions	8
	2.2	The Dirichlet form	1
	2.3	Identifying Φ in the non-local case $\ldots \ldots \ldots$.3
	2.4	Volume of balls	.6
3	Bes	ov spaces 2	21
	3.1	Besov spaces in \mathbb{R}^n	21
	3.2	Besov spaces in a metric measure space	22
	3.3	Embedding of Besov spaces into Hölder spaces	23

*Supported by SFB 701 of the German Research Council (DFG).

4	The	energy domain	25			
	4.1	A local case	25			
	4.2	Non-local case	29			
	4.3	Subordinated heat kernel	30			
	4.4	Bessel potential spaces	33			
5	The	walk dimension	34			
	5.1	Intrinsic characterization of the walk dimension	34			
	5.2	Inequalities for the walk dimension	37			
6	Two-sided estimates in the local case 43					
	6.1	The Dirichlet form in subsets	43			
	6.2	Maximum principles	44			
	6.3	A tail estimate	44			
	6.4	Identifying Φ in the local case	51			

1 Introduction

The amount of research on heat kernels in geometric settings has increased dramatically in the past decades. It is impossible to give in one article an overview of recent development of the subject. The diversity of the problems related to heat kernels is well reflected in recent collections [4], [36], [39].

Already in a first Analysis course, one sees a special role of the exponential function $t \mapsto e^t$. It is not surprising that a far reaching generalization of the exponential function - an operator semigroup $\{e^{-t\mathcal{L}}\}_{t\geq 0}$, where \mathcal{L} is a positive definite operator, plays similarly an important role in Analysis, Geometry, Probability and other related fields. If operator \mathcal{L} acts in a function space then frequently the action of the semigroup $e^{-t\mathcal{L}}$ is given by an integral operator. The kernel of this operator is called *the heat kernel* of \mathcal{L} . Needless to say that any knowledge of the heat kernel, for example, upper and/or lower estimates, can help in solving various problems related to the operator \mathcal{L} (see, for example, [5], [16]). If in addition the operator \mathcal{L} is a second order elliptic differential operator), then one can use information about the heat kernel to answer questions about the process itself (see, for example, [30] and references therein). A resolution of the Poincaré conjecture by G.Perel'man can be viewed as a spectacular example of application of heat kernels in Geometry.

In this survey we touch only one aspect of the study of heat kernels: what kind of two sided estimates of self-similar type are possible for a heat kernel in a metric measure space? This question will be stated more precisely below, after a series of examples, and is largely motivated by a recent progress in Analysis on fractal spaces (see, for example, [6], [40]). The results surveyed here were proved in [31], [32], [33]. The purpose of this survey is to present a self-contained, streamlined account of these results with complete proofs.

1.1 Heat kernel in \mathbb{R}^n

The classical Gauss-Weierstrass heat kernel is the following function

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{n/2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}\right),$$

where $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and t > 0. This function is a fundamental solution of the heat equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u,$$

where $\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2}$ is the Laplace operator. Moreover, if f is a continuous bounded function on \mathbb{R}^n then the function

$$u(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} p_t(x,y) f(y) \, dy$$

solves the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u\\ u\left(0, x\right) = f\left(x\right) \end{cases}$$

In the modern terms, this also can be written in the form

$$u(t,\cdot) = \exp\left(-t\mathcal{L}\right)f ,$$

where \mathcal{L} here is a self-adjoint extension of $-\Delta$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\exp(-t\mathcal{L})$ is understood in the sense of the functional calculus of self-adjoint operators. This means that $p_t(x, y)$ is the integral kernel of the operator $\exp(-t\mathcal{L})$.

The function $p_t(x, y)$ has also a probabilistic meaning: it is the transition density of the Brownian motion $\{X_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ in \mathbb{R}^n . The graph of $p_t(x, 0)$ as a function of x is shown on Fig. 1.



Figure 1: The Gauss-Weierstrass heat kernel at different values of t

The term $\frac{|x-y|^2}{t}$ determines the *space/time scaling*: if $|x-y|^2 \leq Ct$ then $p_t(x,y)$ is comparable with $p_t(y,y)$, that is, the probability density in the $C\sqrt{t}$ -neighborhood of y is nearly constant.

1.2 Heat kernels on Riemannian manifolds

Let (M, g) be a connected Riemannian manifold, and Δ be the Laplace-Beltrami operator on M. Then the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ is can be defined as the integral kernel of the heat semigroup $\{\exp(-t\mathcal{L})\}_{t\geq 0}$ where \mathcal{L} is the Dirichlet Laplace operator, that is, the minimal self-adjoint extension of $-\Delta$ in $L^2(M, \mu)$, and μ is the Riemannian volume. Alternatively, $p_t(x, y)$ is the minimal positive fundamental solution of the heat equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u$$

The function $p_t(x, y)$ can be used to define the Brownian motion $\{X_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ on M. Namely, $\{X_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a *diffusion process* (that is, a Markov process with continuous trajectories), such that

$$\mathbb{P}_{x}\left(X_{t}\in A\right) = \int_{A} p_{t}\left(x,y\right) d\mu\left(y\right)$$

for any Borel set $A \subset M$ (see Fig. 2).



Figure 2: The Brownian motion X_t hits a set A

Let d(x, y) be the geodesic distance on M. It turns out that the Gaussian type space/time scaling $\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}$ appears in heat kernel estimates on general Riemannian manifolds:

1. (Varadhan [48]) For an arbitrary Riemannian manifold,

$$\log p_t(x,y) \sim -\frac{d^2(x,y)}{4t}$$
 as $t \to 0$,

2. (Li & Yau [42]) If (M, g) is a complete manifold with $Ric \ge 0$ then

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{V(x,\sqrt{t})} \exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right)$$

where $V(x,r) = \mu(B(x,r))$, B(x,r) being a geodesic ball, c, C are positive constants, and the sign \approx means that both \leq and \geq take place, but possibly with different values of C and c.

3. (Davies [21]) For an arbitrary manifold M, for any two measurable sets $A, B \subset M$

$$\int_{A} \int_{B} p_{t}(x, y) d\mu(x) d\mu(y) \leq \sqrt{\mu(A) \mu(B)} \exp\left(-\frac{d^{2}(A, B)}{4t}\right)$$

4. (*Grigor'yan* [26]) For an arbitrary manifold M, if for two points $x, y \in M$ and all t > 0

$$p_t(x,x) \leq f_1(t) \text{ and } p_t(y,y) \leq f_2(t)$$

where f_1 and f_2 functions with some regularity properties then, for all t > 0,

$$p_t(x,y) \le C\sqrt{f_1(Ct)f_2(Ct)}\exp\left(-c\frac{d^2(x,y)}{t}\right).$$

Technically, all these results depend upon the following property of the geodesic distance: $|\nabla d| \leq 1$.

It is natural to ask the following question:

Are there settings where the space/time scaling is different from Gaussian?

1.3 Heat kernels of fractional powers of Laplacian

Easy examples can be constructed using another operator instead of the Laplacian. As above, let \mathcal{L} be the Dirichlet Laplace operator on a Riemannian manifold M, and consider the evolution equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + \mathcal{L}^{\beta/2} u = 0,$$

where $\beta \in (0, 2)$. The operator $\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2}$ is understood in the sense of the functional calculus in $L^2(M, \mu)$. Let $p_t(x, y)$ be now the heat kernel of $\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2}$, that is, the integral kernel of $\exp(-t\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2})$.

The condition $\beta < 2$ leads to the fact that the semigroup $\exp\left(-t\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2}\right)$ is *Markovian*, which, in particular, means that $p_t(x, y) > 0$ (if $\beta > 2$ then $p_t(x, y)$ may be signed). Using the techniques of subordinators, developed in the theory of Markov processes, one obtains the following estimate for the heat kernel of $\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2}$ in \mathbb{R}^n (see [13] or Section 4.3 below):

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{n/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(n+\beta)} \asymp \frac{C}{t^{n/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|^\beta}{t} \right)^{-\frac{N+\beta}{\beta}} . \tag{1.1}$$

 $n + \beta$

The heat kernel of $\sqrt{\mathcal{L}}$ in \mathbb{R}^n (that is, the case $\beta = 1$) is known explicitly:

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{c_n}{t^n} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|^2}{t^2} \right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}} = \frac{c_n t}{\left(t^2 + |x-y|^2 \right)^{\frac{n+1}{2}}} ,$$

where $c_n = \Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)/\pi^{(n+1)/2}$ (which is nothing other but the Poisson kernel in the half-space \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , or the density of the Cauchy distribution in \mathbb{R}^n with the parameter t).

As we see, the space/time scaling is given by the term $\frac{d^{\beta}(x,y)}{t}$ where $\beta < 2$. The heat kernel of the operator $\mathcal{L}^{\beta/2}$ coincides with the transition density of a symmetric stable process of index β , which belongs to the family of Levy processes. The trajectories of this process are discontinuous, thus allowing jumps. The heat kernel $p_t(x,y)$ of such process is nearly constant in a $Ct^{1/\beta}$ -neighborhood of y. If t is large then

$$t^{1/\beta} \gg t^{1/2},$$

that is, this neighborhood is much larger than that for the diffusion process, which is not surprising because of the presence of jumps. The space/time scaling with $\beta < 2$ is called *super-Gaussian*.

1.4 Heat kernels on fractal spaces

A rich family of heat kernels for diffusion processes has come from Analysis on *fractals*. The notion of a fractal has appeared in Physics as a model for disordered media (cf. [43]). Mathematically, fractals are sets in \mathbb{R}^n with certain self-similarity properties. On Fig. 3, the reader can see the first three steps of the construction procedure of a fractal set called *the Sierpinski gasket* (SG), which is similar to the construction of the Cantor set:



Figure 3: Construction of the Sierpinski gasket: one starts with a triangle as a closed subset of \mathbb{R}^2 , then the open middle triangle is eliminated (shaded on the diagram), and similar procedures repeat for the remaining triangles, etc.

Hence, SG is a compact connected subset of \mathbb{R}^2 . Using a similar procedure for expanding (see Fig. 4) one obtains the *unbounded* SG.



Figure 4: The unbounded SG is obtained from SG by merging the latter (at the left lower corner of the diagram) with two shifted copies and then by repeating this procedure at larger scales.

We refer the reader to [6], [23], [40] for the details of the construction of fractals.

Barlow and Perkins [12], Goldstein [25] and Kusuoka [41] have constructed by different methods a natural diffusion process on SG that has the same self-similarity as SG. Barlow and Perkins [12] considered random walks on the graph approximations of SG and showed that, with an appropriate scaling, the random walks converge to a diffusion process. Moreover, they proved that this process has a transition density $p_t(x, y)$ with respect to a proper Hausdorff measure μ of SG, and that p_t satisfies the following estimate:

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{d^\beta(x,y)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right),$$
(1.2)

where d(x, y) = |x - y| and

$$\alpha = \dim_H SG = \frac{\log 3}{\log 2}, \qquad \beta = \frac{\log 5}{\log 2} > 2.$$

Similar estimates were proved by Barlow and Bass [8], [9], [10] for a large family of various fractals, and the parameters α and β in (1.2) are determined by the intrinsic properties of the fractal. In all cases, α is the Hausdorff dimension (which is also called the *fractal dimension*). The parameter β , that is called the *walk dimension*, is larger than 2 in all interesting examples.

In the case $\beta > 2$, the space/time scaling is called *sub-Gaussian*; the heat kernel $p_t(x, \cdot)$ is nearly constant in $Ct^{1/\beta}$ -neighborhood of x and, for large t,

$$t^{1/\beta} \ll t^{1/2}.$$

The physicists call such a diffusion *anomalous* thus emphasizing that the estimates of the kind (1.2) are features of very specific singular spaces. However, surprisingly enough, (1.2) with $\beta > 2$ can occur on Riemannian manifolds, although for a restricted range of time t. Indeed, consider the *Sierpinski graph*, which is obtained similarly to the Sierpinski gasket, but using enlargement instead of shrinking (see Fig. 5).



Figure 5: The Sierpinski graph

It is not difficult to believe that the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ of the simple random walk on this graph (where t is now an integer) admits the estimate (1.2) in the range

$$t \ge \max\left(1, d\left(x, y\right)\right)$$

(see [35], [37]). Now make the Sierpinski graph into a manifold by blowing up the edges. Then the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ for the Laplace-Beltrami operator on this manifold also admit the sub-Gaussian estimate (1.2) for the above range of time. In the opposite case

$$t < \max\left(1, d\left(x, y\right)\right)$$

the heat kernel satisfies the Gaussian estimate (cf. [11]).

1.5 Summary of examples

Observe now that in all the above examples, the heat kernel estimates can be unified in one formula as follows:

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right),\tag{1.3}$$

where α, β are positive parameters and $\Phi(s)$ is a positive decreasing function on $[0, +\infty)$. For example, for the Gauss-Weierstrass function we have $\alpha = n, \beta = 2$ and

$$\Phi\left(s\right) = \exp\left(-s^2\right).$$

For diffusions on fractals, we have $\beta > 2$ and

$$\Phi\left(s\right) = \exp\left(-s^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}\right).$$

For the symmetric stable process of the index $\beta \in (0,2)$ in \mathbb{R}^n , we have

$$\Phi(s) = (1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta)},$$

where $\alpha = n$.

In this survey we focus on the following question:

What values of the parameters α, β and what functions Φ can actually occur in the estimate (1.3)?

The answer (Theorem 6.7) will be given in the setting of metric measure spaces that will be described in the next section.

2 Abstract heat kernels

Let (M, d) be a locally compact separable metric space and μ be a Radon measure on M with full support. The triple (M, d, μ) will be called a *metric measure space*.

2.1 Basic definitions

Definition 2.1 A family $\{p_t\}_{t>0}$ of measurable functions $p_t(x, y)$ on $M \times M$ is called a heat kernel if the following conditions are satisfied, for μ -almost all $x, y \in M$ and all s, t > 0:

- (i) Positivity: $p_t(x,y) \ge 0$.
- (*ii*) The total mass inequality:

$$\int_{M} p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) \le 1.$$
(2.1)

- (iii) Symmetry: $p_t(x, y) = p_t(y, x)$.
- (iv) The semigroup property:

$$p_{s+t}(x,y) = \int_M p_s(x,z) p_t(z,y) d\mu(z).$$
(2.2)

(v) Approximation of identity: for any $f \in L^2 := L^2(M, \mu)$,

$$\int_{M} p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \xrightarrow{L^2} f(x) \quad as \ t \to 0 + .$$
(2.3)

If in addition we have, for μ -a.a. $x \in M$ and all t > 0,

$$\int_{M} p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) = 1 \tag{2.4}$$

then the heat kernel p_t is called *stochastically complete* (or *conservative*).

Any heat kernel gives rise to the heat semigroup $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ where $P_0 = \text{id}$ and P_t for t > 0 is the operator in L^2 defined by

$$P_t f(x) = \int_M p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y).$$
 (2.5)

It follows from (i) - (ii) that the operator P_t is *Markovian*, that is, $f \ge 0$ implies $P_t f \ge 0$ and $f \le 1$ implies $P_t f \le 1$. It follows that P_t is a bounded operator in L^2 and, moreover, is a contraction, that is, $||P_t||_{L^2 \to L^2} \le 1$. The symmetry property (*iii*) implies that the operator P_t is symmetric and, hence, self-adjoint. The semigroup property (*iv*) implies that $P_t P_s = P_{t+s}$, that is, the family $\{P_t\}_{t>0}$ is a semigroup. It follows from (v) that

$$s-\lim_{t\to 0} P_t = \mathrm{id} = P_0$$

where s-lim stands for the strong limit. Hence, $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a strongly continuous, symmetric, Markovian semigroup in L^2 . Conversely, if $\{P_t\}$ is such a semigroup and if it has the integral kernel $p_t(x, y)$ then the latter is a heat kernel in the sense of Definition 2.1.

Given a strongly continuous, symmetric, Markovian semigroup P_t in L^2 , define the *infinitesimal generator* \mathcal{L} of the semigroup by

$$\mathcal{L}f := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{f - P_t f}{t}, \tag{2.6}$$

where the limit is understood in the L^2 -norm. The domain dom(\mathcal{L}) of the generator \mathcal{L} is the space of functions $f \in L^2$ for which the limit in (2.6) exists. By the Hille– Yosida theorem, dom(\mathcal{L}) is dense in L^2 . Furthermore, \mathcal{L} is a self-adjoint, positive definite operator, which immediately follows from the fact that the semigroup $\{P_t\}$ is self-adjoint and Markovian. Moreover, we have

$$P_t = \exp\left(-t\mathcal{L}\right),\tag{2.7}$$

where the right hand side is understood in the sense of spectral theory.

Heat kernels arise naturally from Markov processes. Let $({X_t}_{t\geq 0}, {\mathbb{P}_x}_{x\in M})$ be a reversible Markov process on M, and assume that it has the transition density $p_t(x, y)$, that is, a function such that, for all $x \in M, t > 0$, and all Borel sets $A \subset M$,

$$\mathbb{P}_{x}\left(X_{t}\in A\right)=\int_{M}p_{t}\left(x,y\right)d\mu\left(y\right).$$

Then $p_t(x, y)$ is a heat kernel in the sense of Definition 2.1. Furthermore, in this case all the properties (i) - (iv) are satisfied for all $x, y \in M$ rather than for *almost* all.

All examples of heat kernels considered in Introduction, satisfy Definition 2.1. Now we can specify our main question as follows:

Let $p_t(x, y)$ be a heat kernel on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) and assume that it satisfies for all t > 0 and μ -a.a. $x, y \in M$ the estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(2.8)

What values of the parameters α, β and what function Φ can actually occur in this estimate?

The answer will be given in Theorem 6.7. Before we embark on the study of this problem, let us show some simple examples of stochastically complete heat kernels that do not satisfy (2.8).

Example 2.2 (A frozen heat kernel) Let M be a countable set and let $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be the sequence of all distinct points from M. Let $\{\mu_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of reals and define measure μ on M by $\mu(\{x_k\}) = \mu_k$. Define a function $p_t(x, y)$ on $M \times M$ by

$$p_t(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\mu_k}, & x = y = x_k \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We claim that $p_t(x, y)$ is a stochastically complete heat kernel. We call it frozen because it does not depend on time t. For example, let us check the approximation of identity: for any function $f \in L^2(M, \mu)$, we have

$$P_{t}f(x) = \int_{M} p_{t}(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) = p_{t}(x, x) f(x) \mu(\{x\}) = f(x),$$

whence the claim follows.

The Markov process associated with the frozen heat kernel is very simple: $X_t = X_0$ for all $t \ge 0$ so that it is a frozen diffusion.

Example 2.3 (The heat kernel in \mathbb{H}^3) The heat kernel of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on the 3-dimensional hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^3 is given by the formula

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{3/2}} \frac{r}{\sinh r} \exp\left(-\frac{r^2}{4t} - t\right),$$
(2.9)

where r = d(x, y) is the geodesic distance between x, y. See [15], [20], [29].

Example 2.4 (The Mehler heat kernel) Let $M = \mathbb{R}$, measure μ be defined by

$$d\mu = e^{x^2} dx,$$

and the operator \mathcal{L} be given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -e^{-x^2} \frac{d}{dx} \left(e^{x^2} \frac{d}{dx} \right) = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} - 2x \frac{d}{dx}.$$

Then the heat kernel of \mathcal{L} is given by the formula

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\sinh 2t)^{1/2}} \exp\left(\frac{2xye^{-2t} - x^2 - y^2}{1 - e^{-4t}} - t\right)$$
(2.10)

Similarly, for the measure

$$d\mu = e^{-x^2} dx$$

and for the operator

$$\mathcal{L} = e^{x^2} \frac{d}{dx} \left(e^{-x^2} \frac{d}{dx} \right) = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + 2x \frac{d}{dx},$$

we have

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{\left(2\pi\sinh 2t\right)^{1/2}} \exp\left(\frac{2xye^{-2t} - \left(x^2 + y^2\right)e^{-4t}}{1 - e^{-4t}} + t\right).$$

See [19, p.181] and [29].

2.2 The Dirichlet form

Given a heat kernel $\{p_t\}$ on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) , define for any t > 0 a quadratic form \mathcal{E}_t on L^2 by

$$\mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] := \left(\frac{u - P_t u}{t}, u\right),\tag{2.11}$$

where (\cdot, \cdot) is the inner product in L^2 . An easy computation shows that \mathcal{E}_t can be equivalently defined by

$$\mathcal{E}_{t}[u] = \frac{1}{2t} \int_{M} \int_{M} |u(x) - u(y)|^{2} p_{t}(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) + \frac{1}{t} \int_{M} (1 - P_{t} 1(x)) u^{2}(x) d\mu(x).$$
(2.12)

Indeed, by (2.5) we have

$$u(x) - P_t u(x) = u(x) P_t 1(x) - P_t u(x) + (1 - P_t 1(x)) u(x)$$

=
$$\int_M (u(x) - u(y)) p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) + (1 - P_t 1(x)) u(x)$$

whence by (2.11)

$$\mathcal{E}_{t}[u] = \frac{1}{t} \int_{M} \int_{M} (u(x) - u(y)) \, u(x) p_{t}(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) + \frac{1}{t} \int_{M} (1 - P_{t} \mathbf{1}(x)) \, u^{2}(x) d\mu(x).$$
(2.13)

Interchanging the variables x and y in the first integral and using the symmetry of the heat kernel, we obtain also

$$\mathcal{E}_{t}[u] = \frac{1}{t} \int_{M} \int_{M} (u(y) - u(x)) \, u(y) p_{t}(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) + \frac{1}{t} \int_{M} (1 - P_{t} \mathbf{1}(x)) \, u^{2}(x) d\mu(x),$$
(2.14)

and (2.12) follows by adding up (2.13) and (2.14).

Note that by (2.1) $P_t 1 \leq 1$ so that the second term in the right hand side of (2.12) is non-negative. If the heat kernel is stochastically complete, that is, $P_t 1 = 1$, then that term vanishes and we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_t[u] = \frac{1}{2t} \int_M \int_M |u(x) - u(y)|^2 p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x).$$
(2.15)

In terms of the spectral resolution $\{E_{\lambda}\}$ of the generator \mathcal{L} , \mathcal{E}_t can be expressed as follows

$$\mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] = \int_0^\infty \frac{1 - e^{-t\lambda}}{t} d\|E_\lambda u\|_2^2,$$

which implies that $\mathcal{E}_t[u]$ is decreasing in t (indeed, this is an elementary exercise to show that the function $t \mapsto \frac{1-e^{-t\lambda}}{t}$ is decreasing).

Let us define a quadratic form \mathcal{E} by

$$\mathcal{E}[u] := \lim_{t \to 0+} \mathcal{E}_t \left[u \right] = \int_0^\infty \lambda d \| E_\lambda u \|_2^2$$
(2.16)

(where the limit may be $+\infty$ since $\mathcal{E}[u] \geq \mathcal{E}_t[u]$) and its *domain* $\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{dom}(\mathcal{E})$ by

 $\mathcal{F} := \{ u \in L^2 : \mathcal{E} [u] < \infty \}.$

It is clear from (2.12) and (2.16) that \mathcal{E}_t and \mathcal{E} are positive definite.

It is easy to see from (2.16) that $\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{dom}(\mathcal{L}^{1/2})$. It will be convenient for us to use the following notation:

$$\operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{L}) := \mathcal{F} = \operatorname{dom}(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}).$$
(2.17)

The domain \mathcal{F} is dense in L^2 because \mathcal{F} contains dom(\mathcal{L}). Indeed, if $u \in \text{dom}(\mathcal{L})$ then using (2.6) and (2.11), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \lim_{t \to 0} \mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] = (\mathcal{L}u, u) < \infty.$$
(2.18)

The quadratic form $\mathcal{E}[u]$ extends to a bilinear form $\mathcal{E}(u, v)$ by the polarization identity

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{E}[u+v] - \mathcal{E}[u-v] \right).$$

It follows from (2.18) that $\mathcal{E}(u, v) = (\mathcal{L}u, v)$ for all $u, v \in \text{dom}(\mathcal{L})$.

The space \mathcal{F} is naturally endowed with the inner product

$$\mathcal{E}_1(u,v) := (u,v) + \mathcal{E}(u,v).$$
(2.19)

It is possible to show that the form \mathcal{E} is *closed*, that is, the space \mathcal{F} is *Hilbert*.

The fact that P_t is Markovian implies that the form \mathcal{E} satisfies the Markov property: if $u \in \mathcal{F}$ then $\widetilde{u} := \min(u_+, 1) \in \mathcal{F}$ and $\mathcal{E}[\widetilde{u}] \leq \mathcal{E}[u]$. Hence, \mathcal{E} is a Dirichlet form (see [24]).

Definition 2.5 The form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is called *local* if $\mathcal{E}(u, v) = 0$ whenever the functions $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ have compact disjoint supports. The form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is called *strongly local* if $\mathcal{E}(u, v) = 0$ whenever the functions $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ have compact supports and $u \equiv \text{const in an}$ open neighborhood of supp v.

For example, if $p_t(x, y)$ is the heat kernel of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on a complete Riemannian manifold then

$$\mathcal{E}\left(u,v\right) = \int_{M} \left(\nabla u, \nabla v\right) d\mu$$

and \mathcal{F} is the Sobolev space $W_2^1(M)$. Note that this Dirichlet form is strongly local because u = const on supp v implies $\nabla u = 0$ on supp u and, hence, $\mathcal{E}(u, v) = 0$.

If $p_t(x, y)$ is the heat kernel of the symmetric stable process of index β in \mathbb{R}^n , that is, $\mathcal{L} = (-\Delta)^{\beta/2}$, then

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = c_{n,\beta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left(u\left(x\right) - u\left(y\right)\right) \left(v\left(x\right) - v\left(y\right)\right)}{|x-y|^{n+\beta}} dx dy,$$

and \mathcal{F} is the Besov space $B_{2,2}^{\beta/2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. This form is non-local.

Denote by $C_0(M)$ the space of continuous functions on M with compact supports, endowed with sup-norm.

Definition 2.6 The form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is called *regular* if $\mathcal{F} \cap C_0(M)$ is dense both in \mathcal{F} and in $C_0(M)$.

All the Dirichlet forms in the above examples are regular.

2.3 Identifying Φ in the non-local case

Fix two positive parameters α and β and a monotone decreasing function $\Phi : [0, +\infty) \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$.

Lemma 2.7 ([33]) Assume that $\{p_t\}$ is a heat kernel on (M, d, μ) such that, for all t > 0 and almost all $x, y \in M$,

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(2.20)

Then either the associated Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is local or

$$\Phi(s) \ge c \left(1+s\right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)} \tag{2.21}$$

for all s > 0 and some c > 0.

Proof. Consider the bilinear form \mathcal{E}_t on $L^2(M, \mu)$, which is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{t}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2t} \int_{M} \int_{M} \int_{M} (u(x) - u(y)) \left(v(x) - v(y) \right) p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$
(2.22)

$$+\frac{1}{t}\int_{M} (1 - P_t 1(x)) u(x)v(x)d\mu(x)$$
(2.23)

(cf. (2.12)). Let $u, v \in L^2(M, \mu)$ be two non-negative functions with compact disjoint supports $A = \sup u$ and $B = \sup v$, and set

$$r = d\left(A, B\right) > 0$$



Figure 6: Functions u and v with disjoint supports

(see Fig. 6).

The integral (2.23) is clearly equal to 0. The integrand in (2.22) vanishes if either both x, y are outside A or both x, y are outside B. Hence, we can restrict the integration to the domain where one of the variables x, y is in A and the other is in B. Hence, we obtain, using the symmetry of the heat kernel,

$$\mathcal{E}_{t}(u,v) = -\frac{1}{2t} \int_{A} \int_{B} u(x)v(y) p_{t}(x,y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x) -\frac{1}{2t} \int_{B} \int_{A} u(y)v(x) p_{t}(x,y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x) = -\frac{1}{t} \int_{A} \int_{B} u(x)v(y) p_{t}(x,y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x).$$
(2.24)

If $x \in A$ and $y \in B$ then $d(x, y) \ge r$. Therefore, for almost all $x \in A$ and $y \in B$,

$$p_t(x,y) \leq rac{1}{t^{lpha/eta}} \Phi\left(rac{r}{t^{1/eta}}
ight),$$

which together with (2.24) implies

$$|\mathcal{E}_t(u,v)| \le \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \|u\|_{L^1} \|v\|_{L^1}$$
(2.25)

(note that $||u||_{L^1} \leq \mu(A)^{1/2} ||u||_{L^2} < \infty$ and the same holds for v). If (2.21) fails then there exists a sequence $\{s_k\} \to \infty$ such that

$$s_k^{\alpha+\beta}\Phi(s_k) \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Define a sequence $\{t_k\}$ from the condition

$$s_k = \frac{r}{t_k^{1/\beta}}$$

Then

$$s_k^{lpha+eta}\Phi\left(s_k
ight)=rac{r^{lpha+eta}}{t_k^{1+lpha/eta}}\Phi\left(rac{r}{t_k^{1/eta}}
ight)
ightarrow 0 \quad ext{as} \; k
ightarrow\infty,$$

and (2.25) implies that

$$\mathcal{E}_{t_k}(u,v) \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$
 (2.26)

If in addition $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ then, by (2.16) and (2.26),

$$\mathcal{E}\left(u,v\right) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_{t_k}\left(u,v\right) = 0,$$

whence the locality of \mathcal{E} follows.

Lemma 2.8 ([33]) Assume that $\{p_t\}$ is a heat kernel on (M, d, μ) such that, for all t > 0 and almost all $x, y \in M$,

$$p_t(x,y) \ge \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(2.27)

Then

$$\Phi(s) \le C \left(1+s\right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)} \tag{2.28}$$

for all s > 0 and some C > 0.

Proof. Let u be a non-constant function from $L^{2}(M, \mu)$. Choose a ball $Q \subset M$ where u is non-constant and let a > b be two real values such that the sets

$$A = \{x \in Q : u(x) \ge a\}$$
 and $B = \{x \in Q : u(x) \le b\}$

have positive measures (see Fig. 7).



Figure 7: Sets A and B

If $R = \operatorname{diam} Q$ then, by (2.27), we have, for almost all $x, y \in Q$,

$$p_t\left(x,y
ight) \geq rac{1}{t^{lpha/eta}}\Phi\left(rac{R}{t^{1/eta}}
ight),$$

whence by (2.12)

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \geq \mathcal{E}_{t}\left[u\right] \geq \frac{1}{2t} \int_{A} \int_{B} \left(u(x) - u(y)\right)^{2} p_{t}(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\geq (a - b)^{2} \mu\left(A\right) \mu\left(B\right) \frac{1}{2t^{1 + \alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(\frac{R}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{c'}{t^{1 + \alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(\frac{R}{t^{1/\beta}}\right),$$

$$(2.29)$$

where c' > 0. If (2.28) fails then there exists a sequence $\{s_k\} \to \infty$ such that

$$s_k^{\alpha+\beta}\Phi(s_k) \to \infty \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$
 (2.30)

Define a sequence $\{t_k\}$ from the condition

$$s_k = \frac{R}{t_k^{1/\beta}}.$$

Then

$$\frac{1}{t_k^{1+\alpha/\beta}}\Phi\left(\frac{R}{t_k^{1/\beta}}\right) = R^{-(\alpha+\beta)}s_k^{\alpha+\beta}\Phi\left(s_k\right) \to \infty \quad \text{as } k \to \infty,$$

and (2.29) yields $\mathcal{E}(u, u) = \infty$.

Hence, we have arrived at the conclusion that the domain of the form \mathcal{E} contains only constants. Since \mathcal{F} is dense in $L^2(M,\mu)$, it follows that $L^2(M,\mu)$ consists only of constants. Hence, there is a point $x \in M$ with a positive mass, that is, $\mu(\{x\}) > 0$. Then (2.1) implies that, for all t > 0,

$$p_t(x,x) \le \frac{1}{\mu(\{x\})}.$$
 (2.31)

On the other hand, (2.30) implies $\Phi(0) > 0$, whence by (2.27) $p_t(x, x) \to \infty$ as $t \to 0$, which contradicts (2.31).

Remark 2.9 The last argument in the above proof can be stated as follows. If (2.27) holds with a function Φ such that $\Phi(0) > 0$, then $\mu(\{x\}) = 0$ for all $x \in M$. This simple observation will also be used below.

Corollary 2.10 Assume that the following estimate holds for all t > 0 and almost all $x, y \in M$:

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(2.32)

Then either the Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is local or

$$\Phi(s) \simeq (1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}.$$
(2.33)

Proof. Indeed, if \mathcal{E} is non-local then, by Lemmas 2.7 and 2.8, the function Φ must satisfy (2.21) and (2.28), whence (2.33) follows.

2.4 Volume of balls

Let

$$B(x,r) := \{ y \in M : d(x,y) < r \}$$

be the metric ball in (M, d) of radius r centered at the point $x \in M$.

Theorem 2.11 ([32]) Let p_t be a heat kernel on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) . Let α, β be positive constants and Φ_1, Φ_2 be monotone decreasing functions from $[0, +\infty)$ to $[0, +\infty)$ such that $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0, and

$$\int_0^\infty s^\alpha \Phi_2\left(s\right) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty. \tag{2.34}$$

(a) If for μ -almost all $x, y \in M$ and all t > 0

$$p_t(x,y) \ge \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_1\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)$$
(2.35)

then, for all $x \in M$ and r > 0,

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \le Cr^{\alpha}. \tag{2.36}$$

(b) If $p_t(x, y)$ is stochastically complete and, for μ -almost all $x, y \in M$ and all t > 0,

$$\frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}}\Phi_1\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \le p_t\left(x,y\right) \le \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}}\Phi_2\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \tag{2.37}$$

then, for all $x \in M$ and r > 0,

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \simeq r^{\alpha}. \tag{2.38}$$

Proof. (a) Fix r, t > 0 and consider the following integral

$$\int_{B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) \, d\mu(y) := \int_M p_t\left(x,y\right) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r)}\left(y\right) d\mu\left(y\right) \, d\mu(y) \, d$$

This definition is not entirely trivial as it requires the following justification. Indeed, the function $F(x, y) = p_t(x, y) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r)}(y)$ is measurable jointly in x, y so that by Fubini's theorem the integral $\int_M F(x, y) d\mu(y)$ is well-defined for μ -a.a. $x \in M$ and is a measurable function of x.

For a fixed t > 0 (the value of t = t(r) will be specified below), choose a pointwise version of $p_t(x, y)$ as a function of x, y. By Fubini's theorem, there is a subset $X \subset M$ of a full measure such, that, for any $x \in X$, the following is true:

- 1. the function $p_t(x, y)$ is measurable in y;
- 2. the following inequality is satisfied

$$\int_{B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \le 1,$$
(2.39)

which follows from (2.1);

3. the inequality (2.35) is satisfied for μ -a.a. $y \in M$.

It follows from (2.39) that, for any $x \in X$,

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \le \left(\operatorname{essinf}_{y \in B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) \right)^{-1}.$$

Choose $\varepsilon > 0$ so that $\Phi_1(\varepsilon) > 0$. Applying (2.35) and choosing t from the identity $r = \varepsilon t^{1/\beta}$ we obtain

$$\operatorname{essinf}_{y \in B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) \ge \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_1\left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) = r^{-\alpha} \varepsilon^{\alpha} \Phi_1\left(\varepsilon\right),$$

whence (2.36) follows with $C = (\varepsilon^{\alpha} \Phi_1(\varepsilon))^{-1}$. Finally, having proved (2.38) for all $x \in X$, we obtain (2.38) for all $x \in M$ because X is dense in M.

(b) We first show that the upper bound in (2.37) and (2.36) imply that, for μ -a.a. $x \in M, 0 < t \leq \varepsilon r^{\beta}$,

$$\int_{M\setminus B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \le \frac{1}{2},\tag{2.40}$$

provided $\varepsilon > 0$ is sufficiently small (the measurability issues are handled in the same way as in part (a) so we skip the details). Setting $r_k = 2^k r$ and using the monotonicity of Φ_2 and (2.36) we obtain

$$\int_{M\setminus B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{B(x,r_{k+1})\setminus B(x,r_k)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \\
\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{B(x,r_{k+1})\setminus B(x,r_k)} t^{-\alpha/\beta} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r_k}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) d\mu(y) \\
\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Cr_{k+1}^{\alpha} t^{-\alpha/\beta} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r_k}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \\
= C' \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{2^k r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha} \Phi_2\left(\frac{2^k r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \\
\leq C' \int_{\frac{1}{2}r/t^{1/\beta}}^{\infty} s^{\alpha} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s}.$$
(2.41)

Since by hypothesis (2.34) the integral in (2.41) is convergent, its value can be made arbitrarily small provided r^{β}/t is large enough, whence (2.40) follows.

From (2.4) (which is true by the stochastic completeness of the heat kernel) and (2.40), we conclude that the condition $0 < t \leq \varepsilon r^{\beta}$ implies

$$\int_{B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \ge \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (2.42)$$

whence

$$\mu(B(x,r) \ge \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{essup}_{y \in B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) \right)^{-1}$$

Finally, choosing $t = \varepsilon r^{\beta}$ and using the upper bound

$$p_t(x,y) \le t^{-\alpha/\beta} \Phi_2(0) = r^{-\alpha} \varepsilon^{-\alpha/\beta} \Phi_2(0),$$

we obtain

$$\mu\left(B\left(x,r\right)\right) \ge cr^{\alpha},\tag{2.43}$$

where $c = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha/\beta} (\Phi_2(0))^{-1}$. Combining (2.36) and (2.43), we finish the proof.

Corollary 2.12 Let a heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ be stochastically complete and satisfy the twosided estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right),\tag{2.44}$$

where Φ is a monotone decreasing function from $[0, +\infty)$ to $[0, +\infty)$. Then for all $x \in M$ and r > 0,

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \simeq r^{\alpha}. \tag{2.45}$$

Proof. Observe first that $\Phi(0) > 0$ because otherwise $p_t(x, y) = 0$ for almost all $x, y \in M$, which contradicts the stochastic completeness. Let us show that $\Phi(s) > 0$ for some s > 0. Indeed, assuming the contrary, we obtain that $p_t(x, y) = 0$ for μ -almost all $x \neq y$. The stochastic completeness of $p_t(x, y)$ then implies

$$\int_{\{x\}} p_t(x,y) \, d\mu(y) = 1 \tag{2.46}$$

for μ -a.a. $x \in M$, which implies that there is a point $x \in M$ with a positive mass, that is, $\mu(\{x\}) > 0$. However, by Remark 2.9, this is impossible in the presence of the lower bound in (2.44).

Hence, $\Phi(s) > 0$ for some s > 0. By Lemma 2.8, we obtain

$$\Phi(s) \le C (1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}$$
. (2.47)

In particular, Φ satisfies the condition (2.34) of Theorem 2.11. Hence, (2.45) follows from Theorem 2.11(b).

Lemma 2.13 Assume that, for all $x \in M$ and $r \in (0, r_0)$

$$\mu\left(B\left(x,r\right)\right)\simeq r^{\alpha}$$

where $\alpha, r_0 > 0$. Then, for any non-empty open set $\Omega \subset M$,

$$\dim_H \Omega = \alpha.$$

Moreover, for all Borel sets $A \subset M$,

$$\mu\left(A\right)\simeq H^{\alpha}\left(A\right),$$

where H^{α} is the Hausdorff measure of the dimension α in M.

Proof. Recall that the Hausdorff measure H^s of a Borel subset $A \subset M$ is defined by

$$H^{s}(A) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0+} H^{s}_{\varepsilon}(A)$$
(2.48)

where

$$H^{s}_{\varepsilon}(A) = \inf\left\{\sum_{i} r^{s}_{i} : A \subset \bigcup_{i} B(x_{i}, r_{i}) , \ x_{i} \in M, r_{i} < \varepsilon\right\}.$$
(2.49)

Note that $H^s_{\varepsilon}(A)$ increases as ε decreases so that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} in$ (2.48) can be replaced by $\sup_{\varepsilon > 0}$.

It follows from the definition that $H^{s}(A)$ decreases as s increases. This allows to defined the Hausdorff dimension of A by

$$\dim_H A = \sup \left\{ s : H^s \left(A \right) > 0 \right\}$$

In fact, if there is α such that $0 < H^{\alpha}(A) < \infty$ then $\alpha = \dim_{H} A$. Indeed, it follows from (2.49) that if $s > \alpha$ then

$$H^{s}_{\varepsilon}\left(A\right) \leq \varepsilon^{s-\alpha} H^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon}\left(A\right) \leq \varepsilon^{s-\alpha} H^{\alpha}\left(A\right)$$

whence $H^{s}(A) = 0$.

Let Ω now be a bounded non-empty open subset of M and let us prove that $0 < H^{\alpha}(\Omega) < \infty$. In fact, it is suffices to prove that

$$H^{\alpha}(\Omega) \simeq \mu(\Omega)$$

(note that Ω contains a ball and is contained in a ball so that $0 < \mu(\Omega) < \infty$).

If $\{B(x_i, r_i)\}$ is any finite or countable sequence of balls covering Ω and $r_i < r_0$ then

$$\mu(\Omega) \le \sum_{i} \mu(B(x_{i}, r_{i})) \le C \sum_{i} r_{i}^{\alpha}.$$

Taking inf over all such sequences with $r_i < \varepsilon$, where $\varepsilon < r_0$, we obtain

$$\mu\left(\Omega\right) \leq CH_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha}\left(\Omega\right) \leq CH^{\alpha}\left(\Omega\right).$$

To prove the opposite inequality, it suffices to show that, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, r_0)$ there is a covering of Ω by a sequence of ball $\{B(x_i, r_i)\}$ such that $r_i < \varepsilon$ and

$$\mu\left(\Omega\right) \geq c\sum_{i}r_{i}^{\alpha}$$

where the constant c > 0 is the same for all sets Ω and for all $\varepsilon \in (0, r_0)$. For any point $x \in \Omega$, there is $r_x \in (0, \varepsilon)$ such that the $B(x, r_x) \subset \Omega$. Using the ball covering argument (see, for example, [17, Lemma 2.6]), it is possible to select a finite or countable sequence $\{x_i\}$ of points from Ω such that the balls $B(x_i, r_i)$ cover Ω while the balls $B(x_i, \frac{1}{4}r_i)$ are disjoint (where $r_i = r_{x_i}$). Then

$$\mu\left(\Omega\right) \geq \sum_{i} \mu\left(B\left(x_{i}, \frac{1}{4}r_{i}\right)\right) \geq c\sum_{i}r_{i}^{lpha},$$

which was to be proved.

Finally, let Ω be an arbitrary non-empty open set. Then it can be represented as the union of a sequence $\{\Omega_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of bounded open sets. Since $H^{\alpha}(\Omega) \geq H^{\alpha}(\Omega_i) > 0$ it follows that $\dim_H(\Omega) \geq \alpha$. On the other hand, if $s > \alpha$ then $H^s(\Omega_i) = 0$ which implies that $H^s(\Omega) = 0$ and, hence, $\dim_H(\Omega) \leq \alpha$. We conclude that $\dim_H(\Omega) = \alpha$, which finishes the proof.

The above argument yields also that the relation

$$H^{\alpha}\left(A\right) \simeq \mu\left(A\right) \tag{2.50}$$

holds for any bounded open set $A \subset M$. Since Borel sets in a metric space can be obtained from bounded open sets by applying the operation of a monotone limit, which preserves (2.50), it follows that (2.50) holds for all Borel sets.

Combining Theorem 2.11(b) or Corollary 2.12 with Lemma 2.13, we obtain the following statement.

Corollary 2.14 Assume that either the hypotheses of Theorem 2.11(b) or those of Corollary 2.12 are satisfied. Then

$$\alpha = \dim_H M$$
 and $\mu \simeq H^{\alpha}$.

Consequently, the parameter α is the invariant of the metric space (M,d), and measure μ is determined (up to a factor $\simeq 1$) by the metric space (M,d) alone.

3 Besov spaces

3.1 Besov spaces in \mathbb{R}^n

Recall that the Sobolev space $W_p^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $p \in [1, +\infty]$, consists of functions $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., n, where $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}$ is the distributional derivative of u. It is known that if $p \in (1, +\infty]$ then a function $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ belongs to $W_p^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n\setminus\{0\}}\frac{\|u(x+z)-u(x)\|_p}{|z|}<\infty$$

(see [22, pp.277, 279]). Fix $p \in [1, +\infty]$, $\sigma \in (0, 1)$ and consider a more general *Besov-Nikol'skii* space $B_{p,\infty}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ that consists of functions $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, 0 < |z| \le 1} \frac{\|u(x+z) - u(x)\|_{p}}{|z|^{\sigma}} < \infty,$$
(3.1)

and the norm in $B_{p,\infty}^{\sigma}$ is the sum of $||u||_p$ and the left hand side of (3.1).

A more general family $B_{p,q}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ of *Besov* spaces is defined for any $1 \leq q \leq \infty$ but alongside the case $q = \infty$ considered above, we will need only the case $q = p < +\infty$. In this case, $u \in B_{p,p}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u(x+z) - u(x)|^p}{|z|^{n+p\sigma}} dx \, dz < \infty,$$
(3.2)

with the obvious definition of the norm in $B_{p,p}^{\sigma}$. Here are some well known facts about Besov and Sobolev spaces, where we assume 1 (see for example [3]).

1. $u \in B_{p,\infty}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\sup_{0 < r \le 1} \frac{D_p\left(u, r\right)}{r^{n+p\sigma}} < \infty,$$

where

$$D_p(u,r) := \int_{\{x,y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x-y| < r\}} |u(y) - u(x)|^p \, dx \, dy = \int_{|z| < r} \|u(\cdot + z) - u\|_p^p \, d\mu(z) \, .$$

2. $u \in B^{\sigma}_{p,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{D_p\left(u,r\right)}{r^{n+p\sigma}} \frac{dr}{r} < \infty.$$

Indeed, assuming for simplicity that u is a smooth function with compact support, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|u(x+z) - u(x)|^p}{|z|^{n+p\sigma}} dx \, dz &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\|u(\cdot+z) - u\|^p}{|z|^{n+p\sigma}} dz \\ &= \int_0^\infty \int_{z \in S_r} \frac{\|u(\cdot+z) - u\|^p}{|z|^{n+p\sigma}} dS_r dr \\ &= \int_0^\infty \frac{\partial_r D_p(u,r)}{r^{n+p\sigma}} dr \\ &= (n+p\sigma) \int_0^\infty \frac{D_p(u,r)}{r^{n+p\sigma}} \frac{dr}{r}, \end{split}$$

where $S_r = \{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : |z| = r\}$ and we have used that

$$D_p(u,r) = O(r^{n+p}) = o(r^{n+p\sigma}) \text{ as } r \to 0$$

$$D_p(u,r) = O(1) = o(r^{n+p\sigma}) \text{ as } r \to \infty.$$

3. For any $0<\sigma<1$ the following relations take place

$$W_{2}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subset B_{2,2}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subset B_{2,\infty}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$

$$\parallel \qquad \qquad \parallel$$

$$\operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}(-\Delta) \subset \operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}(-\Delta)^{\sigma}$$

$$(3.3)$$

3.2 Besov spaces in a metric measure space

Fix $\alpha > 0$, $\sigma > 0$, $p \in [1, +\infty)$ and introduce the following functionals on $L^p = L^p(M, \mu)$:

$$D_p(u,r) = \int_{\{x,y \in M: d(x,y) < r\}} |u(x) - u(y)|^p d\mu(x) d\mu(y), \qquad (3.4)$$

and

$$N_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}\left(u\right) = \sup_{0 < r \le 1} \frac{D_p\left(u,r\right)}{r^{\alpha+p\sigma}}.$$
(3.5)

Furthermore, for any $q \in [1, +\infty)$ set

$$N_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}\left(u\right) = \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{D_{p}\left(u,r\right)}{r^{\alpha+p\sigma}}\right)^{q/p} \frac{dr}{r}\right)^{p/q}.$$
(3.6)

We will need only particular case of (3.6) when p = q. In this case, we have

$$N_{p,p}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) = \int_0^\infty \frac{D_p(u,r)}{r^{\alpha+p\sigma}} \frac{dr}{r}.$$
(3.7)

For all $1 \leq p < +\infty$ and $1 \leq q \leq +\infty$ define the space

$$\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma} = \left\{ u \in L^p : N_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) < \infty \right\}$$

and the norm in this space by

$$||u||_{\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}}^{p} = ||u||_{p}^{p} + N_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u).$$

The space $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ was denoted by $Lip(\sigma, p, q)$ in [38] and by $\Lambda_{\sigma}^{p,q}$ in [47]; the space $\Lambda_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ was denoted by $W^{\sigma,p}$ in [32].

Comparing the equivalent definitions of the Besov spaces in \mathbb{R}^n and $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$, we obtain the following identities:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \Lambda_{p,q}^{n,\sigma}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right) &=& B_{p,q}^{\sigma}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), \ 0 < \sigma < 1, \\ \Lambda_{p,p}^{n,1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right) &=& \{0\} \,, \\ \Lambda_{p,\infty}^{n,1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right) &=& W_{p}^{1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), \\ \Lambda_{p,q}^{n,\sigma}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right) &=& \{0\} \,, \ \sigma > 1. \end{array}$$

The definitions of $\Lambda_{p,q}^{n,\sigma}$ and $B_{p,q}^{\sigma}$ match only for $\sigma < 1$. For $\sigma \ge 1$ the definition of $B_{p,q}^{\sigma}$ becomes more involved whereas the above definition of $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ is valid for all $\sigma > 0$ even if the space $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ degenerates to $\{0\}$ for sufficiently large σ . With some abuse of terminology, we refer to $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ as a Besov space, too.

The fact that $D_{p}(u,r)$ is increasing in r implies that, for any r > 0,

$$\frac{D_{p}\left(u,r\right)}{r^{\alpha+p\sigma}} \leq 2^{\alpha+p\sigma} \int_{r}^{2r} \frac{D_{p}\left(u,\rho\right)}{\rho^{\alpha+p\sigma}} \frac{d\rho}{\rho}$$

whence $N_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) \leq C N_{p,p}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)$ and

$$\Lambda_{p,p}^{\alpha,\sigma} \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}.$$
(3.8)

It is clear from (3.5) that $N_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)$ is monotone increasing in σ , which means that the space $\Lambda_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ shrinks when σ increases. Let us show the same holds also for the spaces $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ with $q < \infty$, provided the parameter α satisfies the following property:

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \le Cr^{\alpha} \quad \text{for all } x \in M \text{ and } r > 0.$$
(3.9)

Indeed, using (3.9) we obtain, for any $u \in L^p$,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} D_p\left(u,r\right) &\leq& 2^{p-1} \int \int \limits_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} \left(|u\left(x\right)|^p + |u\left(y\right)|^p \right) d\mu\left(x\right) d\mu\left(y\right) \\ &=& 2^p \int \int \limits_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} |u\left(y\right)|^p d\mu\left(x\right) d\mu\left(y\right) \\ &=& 2^p \int \limits_M |u\left(y\right)|^p \mu\left(B\left(y,r\right)\right) d\mu\left(y\right) \\ &\leq& Cr^{\alpha} \|u\|_p^p. \end{array}$$

Therefore, the integral (3.6) converges at ∞ for all $u \in L^p$ and $\sigma > 0$, and the condition $N_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) < \infty$ amounts to the convergence of the integral at 0. This implies the above claim that the space $\Lambda_{p,q}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ shrinks when σ increases.

3.3 Embedding of Besov spaces into Hölder spaces

Let us define a Hölder space $C^{\lambda} = C^{\lambda}(M, d, \mu)$ as follows: $u \in C^{\lambda}$ if¹

$$\|u\|_{C^{\lambda}} := \|u\|_{\infty} + \underset{\substack{x, y \in M \\ 0 < d(x, y) \le 1/3}}{\operatorname{essup}} \quad \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|}{d(x, y)^{\lambda}} < \infty.$$
(3.10)

Theorem 3.1 ([32]) Let (M, d, μ) satisfy

$$\mu\left(B\left(x,r\right)\right) \simeq r^{\alpha} \tag{3.11}$$

for all $x \in M$ and r > 0. Then, for any $\sigma > \alpha/2$ and all $u \in L^2$,

$$\|u\|_{C^{\lambda}} \le C \|u\|_{\Lambda^{\alpha,\sigma}_{2,\infty}},\tag{3.12}$$

¹The restriction $d(x, y) \leq 1/3$ in (3.10) is related to the restriction $r \leq 1$ in definition (3.5). If (M, d) satisfies the chain condition (see Definition 5.5 below) then the 1/3 can be replaced by any other positive constant.

where

$$\lambda = \sigma - \alpha/2.$$

Consequently, we have the embedding

$$\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma} \hookrightarrow C^{\lambda}.$$

Remark 3.2 From (3.8) it follows that also $\Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\sigma} \hookrightarrow C^{\lambda}$.

Proof. For any $x \in M$ and r > 0, set

$$u_r(x) := \frac{1}{\mu(B(x,r))} \int_{B(x,r)} u(\xi) d\mu(\xi).$$
(3.13)

We claim that for any $u \in L^2$, any $0 < r \le 1/3$, and all $x, y \in M$ such that $d(x, y) \le r$, the following inequality holds:

$$|u_r(x) - u_r(y)| \le C r^{\lambda} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2}.$$
(3.14)

Indeed, setting $B_1 = B(x, r), B_2 = B(y, r)$, we have

$$u_r(x) = \frac{1}{\mu(B_1)} \int_{B_1} u(\xi) d\mu(\xi) = \frac{1}{\mu(B_1)\mu(B_2)} \int_{B_1} \int_{B_2} u(\xi) d\mu(\eta) d\mu(\xi),$$

and similarly

$$u_r(y) = \frac{1}{\mu(B_1)\mu(B_2)} \int_{B_1} \int_{B_2} u(\eta) d\mu(\eta) d\mu(\xi).$$

Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, (3.11) and (3.5), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |u_{r}(x) - u_{r}(y)|^{2} &= \left(\frac{1}{\mu(B_{1})\mu(B_{2})} \int_{B_{1}} \int_{B_{2}} (u(\xi) - u(\eta)) \, d\mu(\eta) d\mu(\xi)\right)^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\mu(B_{1})\mu(B_{2})} \int_{B_{1}} \int_{B_{2}} |u(\xi) - u(\eta)|^{2} \, d\mu(\eta) d\mu(\xi) \\ &\leq C \, r^{-2\alpha} \int_{\{\xi,\eta \in M: d(\xi,\eta) < 3r\}} |u(\xi) - u(\eta)|^{2} \, d\mu(\eta) d\mu(\xi) \\ &= C r^{-2\alpha} D_{2} \, (u, 3r) \\ &\leq C \, r^{2\sigma - \alpha} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u), \end{aligned}$$

thus proving (3.14).

Similarly, one proves that, for any $0 < r \le 1/3$ and $x \in M$,

$$|u_{2r}(x) - u_r(x)| \le C r^{\lambda} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2}.$$
(3.15)

By the Lebesgue theorem, we have

$$u_r(x) \to u(x) \text{ as } r \to 0, \text{ for } \mu\text{-a.a. } x \in M$$

$$(3.16)$$

(this theorem requires the doubling property of the measure, which is true by (3.11)). Setting $r_k = 2^{-k}r$ for any k = 0, 1, 2, ... we obtain from (3.15) and (3.16), for μ -a.a. $x \in M$,

$$\begin{aligned} |u(x) - u_r(x)| &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |u_{r_k}(x) - u_{r_{k+1}}(x)| \\ &\leq C\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r_k^{\lambda}\right) N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2} \\ &\leq C r^{\lambda} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.17)

Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$|u_r(x)| \le C r^{-\alpha/2} ||u||_2$$

and using (3.17) to some fixed value of r, say r = 1/4, we obtain

$$|u(x)| \le |u(x) - u_r(x)| + |u_r(x)| \le C\left(||u||_2 + N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2}\right),$$

whence

$$\|u\|_{\infty} \le C \,\|u\|_{\Lambda^{\alpha,\sigma}_{2,\infty}}.\tag{3.18}$$

Using (3.14) and (3.17), we obtain, for μ -a.a. $x, y \in M$ such that r := d(x, y) < 1/3,

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le |u(x) - u_r(x)| + |u_r(x) - u_r(y)| + |u_r(y) - u(y)| \le C r^{\lambda} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2}.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{|u(x)-u(y)|}{d(x,y)^{\lambda}} \leq C N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u)^{1/2},$$

which together with (3.18) yields (3.12).

4 The energy domain

Recall that a heat kernel p_t on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) has the associated energy form \mathcal{E} and the generator \mathcal{L} .

4.1 A local case

The following theorem identifies the domain \mathcal{F} of the energy form in terms of Besov spaces.

Theorem 4.1 ([32]) Let p_t be a heat kernel on (M, d, μ) , α, β be positive constants, and Φ_1 and Φ_2 be monotone decreasing functions from $[0, +\infty)$ to $[0, +\infty)$.

(a) If the heat kernel satisfies the lower bound

$$p_{t}\left(x,y
ight) \geq rac{1}{t^{lpha/eta}} \Phi_{1}\left(rac{d\left(x,y
ight)}{t^{1/eta}}
ight)$$

where $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0, then, for any $u \in L^2(M, \mu)$,

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \ge c N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}(u)$$

and, consequently, $\mathcal{F} \subset \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$.

(b) If the heat kernel is stochastically complete and satisfies the upper bound

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)$$
$$\int^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty, \tag{4.1}$$

then, for any $u \in L^2(M, \mu)$,

where

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u
ight] \le CN_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}(u)$$

and, consequently, $\mathcal{F} \supset \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$.

Corollary 4.2 If the heat kernel is stochastically complete and satisfies the two-sided estimate (2.37) with functions Φ_1 and Φ_2 as in Theorem 4.1 then, for any $u \in L^2(M, \mu)$,

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \simeq N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}(u),\tag{4.2}$$

and, consequently, $\mathcal{F} = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$.

The identity $\mathcal{F} = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ was obtained in different setting by Jonsson [38, Theorem 1], Pietruska-Paluba [44, Theorem 1], and [32, Theorem 4.2].

Let us show the sharpness of the condition (4.1). If $0 < \sigma < 1$ then the heat kernel of the operator $(-\Delta)^{\sigma}$ in \mathbb{R}^n satisfies (2.37) with the function $\Phi_2(s) = C(1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}$, where $\alpha = n$ and $\beta = 2\sigma$ (see Introduction or Lemma 4.4 below). For this function, the condition (4.1) breaks just on the borderline, and the identity $\mathcal{F} = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ is not valid either. Indeed, in \mathbb{R}^n by (3.3) dom $_{\mathcal{E}}(-\Delta)^{\sigma} = B_{2,2}^{\sigma}$ that is strictly smaller than $B_{2,\infty}^{\sigma} = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{n,\beta/2}$. This case will be covered by Theorem 4.3 below.

As we will see in the proof below (cf. (4.5) and (4.7)), under hypothesis (4.1) we have in fact

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \simeq \limsup_{r \to 0} r^{-(\alpha+\beta)} \iint_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} |u(x) - u(y)|^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x).$$

$$(4.3)$$

In particular, this implies that the energy form is strongly local, that is for all functions $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ with compact supports, if $u \equiv \text{const}$ in an open neighborhood of the support of v then $\mathcal{E}(u, v) = 0$ (note that the locality of \mathcal{E} follows also from Lemma 2.7). The operator $(-\Delta)^{\sigma}$ is not local for $0 < \sigma < 1$, and this explains why Theorem 4.1 does not apply to this operator.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. (a) For a function $u \in L^2$, we have by (3.4) and (3.5)

$$N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}\left(u\right) = \sup_{0 < r < 1} \frac{D_2(u,r)}{r^{\alpha+\beta}},$$

where

$$D_2(u,r) = \iint_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} (u(x) - u(y))^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x).$$
(4.4)

It suffices to prove that, for some c > 0 and for all r > 0,

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \ge c \frac{D_2\left(u,r\right)}{r^{\alpha+\beta}},$$

which would then imply

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \ge c \sup_{0 < r < \infty} \frac{D_2\left(u, r\right)}{r^{\alpha + \beta}} \ge c N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha, \beta/2}\left(u\right).$$

$$(4.5)$$

Chose $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\Phi_1(\varepsilon) > 0$. Let r, t > 0 be such that $r = \varepsilon t^{1/\beta}$. Using the lower bound of $p_t(x, y)$ and the monotonicity of Φ_1 , we obtain from (2.12) that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}[u] & \geq \quad \mathcal{E}_t \left[u \right] \geq \frac{1}{2t} \int \int_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} (u(x) - u(y))^2 p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \\ & \geq \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta+1}} \Phi_1\left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \int_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} (u(x) - u(y))^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \\ & = \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{\varepsilon^{\alpha+\beta}}{r^{\alpha+\beta}} \Phi_1\left(\varepsilon\right) D_2\left(u,r\right), \end{split}$$

which was to be proved.

(b) Let us prove that, for any r > 0,

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \le C \sup_{0 < \rho \le r} \frac{D_2\left(u, \rho\right)}{\rho^{\alpha + \beta}},\tag{4.6}$$

which would imply

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \le C \limsup_{r \to 0+} \frac{D_2\left(u, r\right)}{r^{\alpha+\beta}} \le C N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}\left(u\right).$$
(4.7)

For any positive t, r, we have by (2.15)

$$\mathcal{E}_t[u] = \frac{1}{2t} \int_M \int_M (u(x) - u(y))^2 p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) = A(t) + B(t)$$
(4.8)

where

$$A(t) = \frac{1}{2t} \int_{M} \int_{M \setminus B(x,r)} (u(x) - u(y))^2 p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x), \qquad (4.9)$$

$$B(t) = \frac{1}{2t} \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r)} (u(x) - u(y))^2 p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x).$$
(4.10)

To estimate A(t) let us observe that by (2.41)

$$\int_{M\setminus B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq C \int_{\frac{1}{2}rt^{-1/\beta}}^{\infty} s^{\alpha} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s}$$
$$\leq C \frac{t}{r^{\beta}} \int_{\frac{1}{2}rt^{-1/\beta}}^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s}, \qquad (4.11)$$

whence by (4.1)

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_{M \setminus B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) = o(t) \quad \text{as } t \to 0 + \text{ uniformly in } x \in M.$$
(4.12)

Therefore, applying the elementary inequality $(a - b)^2 \leq 2(a^2 + b^2)$ in (4.9) and using (4.12), we obtain that for $t \to 0$

$$\begin{aligned} A(t) &\leq \frac{1}{t} \int_{\{x,y:d(x,y)\geq r\}} (u(x)^2 + u(y)^2) p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \frac{2}{t} \int_M u(x)^2 \left(\int_{M \setminus B(x,r)} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &= o(1) \|u\|_2^2, \end{aligned}$$

whence

$$\lim_{t \to 0+} A(t) = 0.$$
(4.13)

The quantity B(t) is estimated as follows using the upper bound of the heat kernel, (4.4), (4.1), and setting $r_k = 2^{-k}r$:

$$B(t) = \frac{1}{2t} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r_{k})\setminus B(x,r_{k+1})} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_{2}\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r_{k})} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha+\beta} \Phi_{2}\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \frac{D_{2}(u,r_{k})}{r_{k}^{\alpha+\beta}}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{0<\rho\leq r} \frac{D_{2}(u,\rho)}{\rho^{\alpha+\beta}} \int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta} \Phi_{2}(s) \frac{ds}{s}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{0<\rho\leq r} \frac{D_{2}(u,\rho)}{\rho^{\alpha+\beta}}.$$
(4.15)

Finally, (4.6) follows from (4.8), (4.13) and (4.15) by letting $t \to 0$.

The stochastic completeness in the hypotheses of Theorem 4.1(b) and in Corollary 4.2 is essential. Indeed, consider in \mathbb{R}^n , n > 2, the operator $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta + c(x)$ where c(x) is a non-negative continuous function in \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{c(y)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} dy < \infty.$$
(4.16)

It is possible to show (see [29]) that the heat kernel of \mathcal{L} satisfies the Gaussian estimate

$$p_t\left(x,y
ight) \asymp rac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\left(-crac{|x-y|^2}{t}
ight),$$

while the domain of the Dirichlet form is

$$\mathcal{F} = \left\{ u \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\left|\nabla u\right|^2 + c\left(x\right)u^2 \right) dx < \infty \right\}.$$

Clearly, \mathcal{F} is strictly smaller than

$$\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{n,1} = W_2^1 = \left\{ u \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx < \infty \right\},\,$$

provided function c(x) is unbounded. It is easy to see that there exists an unbounded function c(x) that satisfies (4.16). Indeed, let $c_0(x)$ be any non-zero non-negative function from $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; any such function clearly satisfies (4.16). Choose a sequence $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ in \mathbb{R}^n such that $x_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$ and set

$$c(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta} c_0 \left(k \left(x - x_k \right) \right),$$

where $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Then we have

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c(y)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} dy \leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c_{0}\left(k\left(y-x_{k}\right)\right)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} dy$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c_{0}\left(ky\right)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} dy$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} k^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c_{0}\left(z\right)}{|x-z/k|^{n-2}} dz$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} k^{-n} k^{n-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c_{0}\left(z\right)}{|x-z|^{n-2}} dz$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^{\delta-2} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{c_{0}\left(z\right)}{|x-z|^{n-2}} dz$$

$$< \infty.$$

4.2 Non-local case

The following theorem identifies the domain $\mathcal F$ in the case of non-local form.

Theorem 4.3 ([27]) Let p_t be a stochastically complete heat kernel on (M, d, μ) satisfying estimate (2.37) with functions Φ_1 and Φ_2 such that

$$\Phi_1(s) \simeq s^{-(\alpha+\beta)} \quad \text{for } s > 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi_2(s) \le Cs^{-(\alpha+\beta)} \quad \text{for } s > 0.$$

$$(4.17)$$

Then, for any $u \in L^2(M,\mu)$,

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] \simeq N_{2,2}^{\alpha,\beta/2}(u) \tag{4.18}$$

and, consequently, $\mathcal{F} = \Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$.

The hypotheses (4.17) are satisfied provided the heat kernel admits the estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}.$$
(4.19)

In the next Section 4.3, a class of heat kernels satisfying (4.19) will be described.

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 4.1. Fix a decreasing geometric sequence $\{r_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ and observe that by (3.7)

$$N_{2,2}^{\alpha,\beta/2}\left(u\right) \simeq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{D_2\left(u, r_k\right)}{r_k^{\alpha+\beta}}.$$

Using (2.15) and the upper bounds in (2.37) and (4.17) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} 2\mathcal{E}_{t}[u] &= \frac{1}{t} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r_{k}) \setminus B(x,r_{k+1})} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_{2} \left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r_{k}) \setminus B(x,r_{k+1})} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} d\mu(y) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_{2} \left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) D_{2} (u,r_{k}) \\ &\leq C \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{D_{2} (u,r_{k})}{r_{k}^{\alpha+\beta}} \\ &\leq C N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2} (u) \,, \end{aligned}$$

whence

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \lim_{t \to 0} \mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] \le C N_{2,2}^{\alpha,\beta/2}\left(u\right).$$
(4.20)

Similarly, using the lower bound in (2.37), we obtain

$$2\mathcal{E}_{t}[u] \geq \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_{1}\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r_{k})\setminus B(x,r_{k+1})} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_{1}\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) (D_{2}(u,r_{k}) - D_{2}(u,r_{k+1}))$$

$$= \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \left(\Phi_{1}\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) - \Phi_{1}\left(\frac{r_{k}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)\right) D_{2}(u,r_{k}).$$
(4.21)

The first part of the hypothesis (4.17) implies that there exists a large enough number a such that $\Phi_1\left(\frac{s}{-}\right) > 2\Phi_1(s) \quad \forall s > a.$

$$\Psi_1\left(\frac{s}{a}\right) \ge 2\Phi_1\left(s\right) \quad \forall s > a.$$

Setting $r_k = a^{-k}$, we obtain from (4.21) and (4.17)

$$\mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] \geq \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\left\{k: r_k > at^{1/\beta}\right\}} \frac{1}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_1\left(\frac{r_k}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) D_2\left(u, r_k\right) \geq c \sum_{\left\{k: r_k > at^{1/\beta}\right\}} \frac{D_2\left(u, r_k\right)}{r_k^{\alpha+\beta}}.$$

Letting $t \to 0$, we conclude

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \lim_{t \to 0} \mathcal{E}_t[u] \ge c \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{D_2\left(u, r_k\right)}{r_k^{\alpha + \beta}} \simeq N_{2,2}^{\alpha, \beta/2}\left(u\right),$$

which together with (4.20) finishes the proof.

4.3 Subordinated heat kernel

Let φ be a non-negative continuous function on $[0, +\infty)$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, and let $\{\eta_t\}_{t>0}$ be a family of non-negative continuous functions on $(0, +\infty)$ such that for all t > 0 and $\lambda \ge 0$

$$\exp\left(-t\varphi\left(\lambda\right)\right) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta_{t}\left(s\right) e^{-s\lambda} ds.$$
(4.22)

Then, for any heat kernel p_t on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) , the following expression

$$q_t(x,y) := \int_0^\infty \eta_t(s) \, p_s(x,y) \, ds \tag{4.23}$$

defines a new heat kernel $\{q_t\}_{t>0}$ on M, which is called a *subordinated heat kernel* to p_t (and η_t is called a *subordinator*). Indeed, applying (4.22) to the generator \mathcal{L} of p_t we obtain

$$\exp\left(-t\varphi\left(\mathcal{L}\right)\right) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta_{t}\left(s\right) P_{s} \, ds$$

Comparing to (4.23) we see that q_t is the integral kernel of the semigroup $\{e^{-t\varphi(\mathcal{L})}\}_{t>0}$ generated by the operator $\varphi(\mathcal{L})$. Since $\{e^{-t\varphi(\mathcal{L})}\}_{t>0}$ is a self-adjoint strongly continuous contraction semigroup in L^2 , the family $\{q_t\}_{t>0}$ satisfies the properties (iii) - (v) of Definition 2.1. Let us show that q_t satisfies also (i) and (ii). Indeed, the positivity of q_t follows from $\eta_t \geq 0$, and the total mass inequality from

$$\int_{M} q_t(x,y) \, d\mu(y) = \int_0^\infty \eta_t(s) \left(\int_{M} p_s(x,y) \, d\mu(y) \right) ds \le \int_0^\infty \eta_t(s) \, ds = 1, \qquad (4.24)$$

where the last identity is obtained from (4.22) by taking $\lambda = 0$. Hence, $\{q_t\}_{t>0}$ is a heat kernel. It follows from (4.24) that q_t is stochastically complete if and only if p_t is stochastically complete.

For example, it follows from the definition of the gamma-function that, for all t > 0and $\lambda \ge 0$,

$$\exp\left(-t\log\left(1+\lambda\right)\right) = (1+\lambda)^{-t} = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(t\right)} \int_0^\infty s^{t-1} e^{-s(1+\lambda)} ds,$$

which takes the form (4.22) for $\varphi(\lambda) = \log(1+\lambda)$ and $\eta_t(s) = \frac{s^{t-1}e^{-s}}{\Gamma(t)}$. Therefore, the operator $\log(I + \mathcal{L})$, that generates the semigroup $\{(I + \mathcal{L})^{-t}\}_{t>0}$, has the heat kernel

$$q_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(t)} \int_0^\infty s^{t-1} e^{-s} p_s(x,y) \, ds.$$

It is well known that for any $\delta \in (0, 1)$ there exists a subordinator $\eta_t = \eta_t^{(\delta)}$ such that (4.22) takes place with $\varphi(\lambda) = \lambda^{\delta}$. In this case, (4.23) defines the heat kernel q_t of the operator \mathcal{L}^{δ} .

For example, if $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$ then

$$\eta_t^{(1/2)}(s) = \frac{t}{\sqrt{4\pi s^3}} \exp\left(-\frac{t^2}{4s}\right).$$

For any $0 < \delta < 1$, the function $\eta_t^{(\delta)}(s)$ possesses the scaling property

$$\eta_t^{\left(\delta\right)}\left(s\right) = \frac{1}{t^{1/\delta}} \eta_1^{\left(\delta\right)}\left(\frac{s}{t^{1/\delta}}\right),$$

and satisfies the estimates

$$\eta_t^{(\delta)}(s) \leq C \frac{t}{s^{1+\delta}} \quad \forall s, t > 0,$$

$$(4.25)$$

$$\eta_t^{(\delta)}(s) \simeq \frac{t}{s^{1+\delta}} \qquad \forall s \ge t^{1/\delta} > 0.$$
(4.26)

As $s \to 0+$, $\eta_1^{(\delta)}\left(s\right)$ goes to 0 exponentially fast so that for any $\gamma > 0$

$$\int_0^\infty s^{-\gamma} \eta_1^{(\delta)}(s) \, ds < \infty \tag{4.27}$$

(see [50] and [14]).

Lemma 4.4 ([27]) Let a heat kernel p_t satisfy the estimate (2.37) where $\Phi_1(\xi) > 0$ for some $\xi > 0$ and Φ_2 satisfies the condition

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \xi^{\alpha+\beta'} \Phi_2\left(\xi\right) \frac{d\xi}{\xi} < \infty, \tag{4.28}$$

where $\beta' = \delta\beta$, $0 < \delta < 1$. Then the heat kernel $q_t(x, y)$ of operator \mathcal{L}^{δ} satisfies the estimate

$$q_t(x,y) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta'}} \left(1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta'}} \right)^{-(\alpha+\beta')} \simeq \min\left(t^{-\alpha/\beta'}, \frac{t}{d(x,y)^{\alpha+\beta'}} \right), \tag{4.29}$$

for μ -a.a. $x, y \in M$ and t > 0.

Proof. Chose $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\Phi_1(\varepsilon) > 0$. Using (4.23), (2.37), (4.26) and setting r = d(x, y), we obtain the lower bound in (4.29) as follows:

$$\begin{array}{lll} q_t\left(x,y\right) & \geq & \int_{\max\left(t^{1/\delta},(r/\varepsilon)^{\beta}\right)}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_1\left(\frac{r}{s^{1/\beta}}\right) \eta_t^{(\delta)}\left(s\right) ds \\ & \geq & c \Phi_1\left(\varepsilon\right) \int_{\max\left(t^{1/\delta},(r/\varepsilon)^{\beta}\right)}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^{\alpha/\beta}} \frac{t}{s^{1+\delta}} ds \\ & = & ct \max\left(t^{1/\delta},(r/\varepsilon)^{\beta}\right)^{-(\alpha/\beta+\delta)} \\ & \geq & c' \min\left(t^{-\alpha/\beta'},tr^{-(\alpha+\beta')}\right) \,. \end{array}$$

Similarly, using (4.23), (2.37), (4.25), we obtain

$$\begin{array}{lcl} q_t\left(x,y\right) &\leq & \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{s^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r}{s^{1/\beta}}\right) \eta_t^{\left(\delta\right)}\left(s\right) ds \\ &\leq & C \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{s^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r}{s^{1/\beta}}\right) \frac{t}{s^{1+\delta}} ds \\ &= & C \frac{t}{r^{\alpha+\beta\delta}} \int_0^\infty \xi^{\alpha+\beta\delta} \Phi_2\left(\xi\right) \frac{d\xi}{\xi}. \end{array}$$

By (4.28) the above integral converges, whence

$$q_t(x,y) \le C \frac{t}{r^{\alpha+\beta'}}.$$
(4.30)

On the other hand, using the upper bound $p_s\left(x,y\right) \leq C s^{-\alpha/\beta}$ and the change $\tau=s/t^{1/\delta}$ we obtain

$$q_t(x,y) \le C \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{s^{\alpha/\beta}} \eta_t^{(\delta)}(s) \, ds = t^{-\alpha/(\beta\delta)} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{\tau^{\alpha/\beta}} \eta_1^{(\delta)}(\tau) \, d\tau \le C t^{-\alpha/\beta'}, \qquad (4.31)$$

where the last inequality follows from (4.27). Combining (4.30) and (4.31) we obtain the upper bound in (4.29). \blacksquare

Corollary 4.5 ([27], [46]) If $p_t(x, y)$ is a stochastically complete heat kernel that satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 4.4, then

$$\operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{L}^{\delta}) = \Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}.$$
(4.32)

Proof. By Lemma 4.4, the heat kernel q_t of the operator \mathcal{L}^{δ} satisfies the estimate

$$q_t\left(x,y
ight) \simeq rac{1}{t^{lpha/eta'}} \Phi\left(rac{d\left(x,y
ight)}{t^{1/eta'}}
ight),$$

where

$$\Phi(s) = (1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta')}$$

Since q_t is stochastically complete, Applying Theorem 4.3 to the heat kernel q_t and its generator \mathcal{L}^{δ} we obtain (4.32).

4.4 Bessel potential spaces

Let p_t be a heat kernel on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) and let \mathcal{L} be its generator. Since \mathcal{L} is positive definite, the operator $(I + \mathcal{L})^{-s}$ is a bounded operator in L^2 for any $s \geq 0$. This operator is called the *Bessel potential*.

Fix $\beta > 0$, and for any $\sigma > 0$ define the *Bessel potential space* H^{σ} as the image of $(I + \mathcal{L})^{-\sigma/\beta}$, that is

$$H^{\sigma} := (\mathbf{I} + \mathcal{L})^{-\sigma/\beta} (L^2) = \operatorname{dom} (\mathbf{I} + \mathcal{L})^{\sigma/\beta},$$

with the norm

$$\|u\|_{H^{\sigma}} := \|\left(\mathbf{I} + \mathcal{L}\right)^{\sigma/\beta} u\|_2.$$

This definition of H^{σ} depends on the parameter β . A priori the value of β is arbitrary but normally β is taken the same as in (2.37) assuming that (2.37) holds. For example, for the Gauss-Weierstrass kernel in \mathbb{R}^n we take $\beta = 2$. In this case $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta$ and it is easy to see that $H^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ consists of functions $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\widetilde{u}(\xi)|^2 \left(1+|\xi|^2\right)^{\sigma/2} d\xi < \infty,$$

where \tilde{u} is the Fourier transform of u. Of course, this coincides with the classical definition of the fractional Sobolev space $H^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The purpose of this section is to prove an embedding theorem for the space H^{σ} in a special case when $\alpha < \beta$.

Lemma 4.6 For any $\sigma > 0$ we have $H^{\sigma} = \operatorname{dom}(\mathcal{L}^{\sigma/\beta})$.

Proof. Indeed, let $\{E_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}}$ be the spectral resolution of the operator \mathcal{L} . Setting $s = \sigma/\beta$, we have

$$H^{\sigma} = \operatorname{dom}(\mathbf{I} + \mathcal{L})^{s} = \left\{ u \in L^{2} : \int_{0}^{\infty} (1 + \lambda)^{2s} d\|E_{\lambda}u\|^{2} < \infty \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ u \in L^{2} : \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda^{2s} d\|E_{\lambda}u\|^{2} < \infty \right\}$$
$$= \operatorname{dom}(\mathcal{L}^{s}),$$

which was to be proved. \blacksquare

Theorem 4.7 ([32]) Assume that a heat kernel p_t is stochastically complete and satisfies the two sided estimates (2.37) where $\alpha < \beta$, function Φ_1 is such that $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0, and Φ_2 satisfies the condition

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta} \Phi_{2}\left(s\right) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty$$

Then, for any $\sigma > \alpha/2$ we have

$$H^{\sigma} \hookrightarrow C^{\lambda} \quad where \ \lambda = \min(\sigma, \beta/2) - \alpha/2.$$
 (4.33)

Proof. Note that $H^{\sigma} \hookrightarrow H^{\sigma'}$ wherever $\sigma \geq \sigma'$. Therefore, it suffices to prove the embedding (4.33) for $\sigma \leq \beta/2$, which will be assumed below.

By Corollary 4.2 we have dom_{\mathcal{E}} (\mathcal{L}) = $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$, and by Corollary 4.5 dom_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{L}^{δ}) = $\Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\delta\beta/2}$ provided $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Using Lemma 4.6, we obtain that if $\sigma = \beta/2$ then

$$H^{\sigma} = \operatorname{dom}\left(\mathcal{L}^{1/2}\right) = \operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{L}) = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2} = \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma},$$

and if $\sigma < \beta/2$ then

$$H^{\sigma} = \operatorname{dom}\left(\mathcal{L}^{\sigma/\beta}\right) = \operatorname{dom}_{\mathcal{E}}\left(\mathcal{L}^{2\sigma/\beta}\right) = \Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\sigma}$$

If $\sigma > \alpha/2$ then the both spaces $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ and $\Lambda_{2,2}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ embed into C^{λ} (see Theorem 3.1 and Remark 3.2), which finishes the proof.

For further results of this type see [18, Theorem 4.1], [27], [47, Theorem 3.13(a)], [49].

5 The walk dimension

5.1 Intrinsic characterization of the walk dimension

Definition 5.1 Fix $\alpha > 0$ and set

$$\beta^* := \sup\left\{\beta > 0 : \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2} \text{ is dense in } L^2(M,\mu)\right\}.$$
(5.1)

The number $\beta^* \in [0, +\infty]$ is called the critical exponent of the family $\left\{\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}\right\}_{\beta>0}$ of Besov spaces.

Note that the value of β^* is an intrinsic property of the space (M, d, μ) , which is defined independently of any heat kernel. For example, for \mathbb{R}^n with $\alpha = n$ we have $\beta^* = 2$.

Theorem 5.2 ([32]) Let p_t be a heat kernel on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) .

(a) If the heat kernel satisfies the lower bound

$$p_{t}\left(x,y
ight)\geqrac{1}{t^{lpha/eta}}\Phi_{1}\left(rac{d\left(x,y
ight)}{t^{1/eta}}
ight),$$

where $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0, then $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ is dense in $L^2(M,\mu)$; consequently, $\beta \leq \beta^*$.

(b) If the heat kernel is stochastically complete and satisfies (2.37), where Φ_1 is as above and Φ_2 satisfies

$$\int^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta+\varepsilon} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty, \tag{5.2}$$

for some $\varepsilon > 0$, then $\beta = \beta^*$.

If p_t is the heat kernel of the operator $(-\Delta)^{\beta/2}$ in \mathbb{R}^n , $0 < \beta < 2$, then by (1.1) it does not satisfy (5.2). In this case, the conclusion of Theorem 5.2(b) is not true either, because β is strictly smaller than $\beta^* = 2$.

Proof. (a) By Theorem 4.1(a), we have the inclusion $\mathcal{F} \subset \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$. Since \mathcal{F} is always dense in L^2 , the conclusion follows.

(b) It suffices to prove that, for any $\beta' > \beta$, the space $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}$ is not dense in L^2 . It suffices to assume that $\beta' - \beta$ is sufficiently small so that the condition (5.2) holds with $\varepsilon = \beta' - \beta$.

Firstly, let us show that $u \in \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}$ implies $\mathcal{E}[u] = 0$. We use again the decomposition $\mathcal{E}_t[u] = A(t) + B(t)$, where A(t) and B(t) are defined in (4.9) and (4.10) where we set r = 1. Estimating B(t) similarly to (4.14) but using $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}$ instead of $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ and (5.2), we obtain

$$B(t) \leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{r_{k+1}^{\alpha+\beta'}}{t^{1+\alpha/\beta}} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \frac{D_2(u, r_k)}{r_k^{\alpha+\beta'}}$$

$$= Ct^{\delta} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha+\beta'} \Phi_2\left(\frac{r_{k+1}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) \frac{D_2(u, r_k)}{r_k^{\alpha+\beta'}}$$

$$\leq Ct^{\delta} \int_0^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta'} \Phi_2(s) \frac{ds}{s} \left(\sup_{0<\rho\leq 1} \frac{D_2(u,\rho)}{\rho^{\alpha+\beta'}}\right)$$

$$\leq Ct^{\delta} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}(u), \qquad (5.3)$$

where δ is found from the identity

$$1 + \frac{\alpha}{\beta} = \frac{\alpha + \beta'}{\beta} - \delta,$$

that is,

$$\delta = \frac{\beta'}{\beta} - 1 > 0$$

Putting together (4.8), (4.13), and (5.3), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_t[u] \le A(t) + Ct^{\delta} N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}(u) \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to 0,$$

whence

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \lim_{t \to 0} \mathcal{E}_t\left[u\right] = 0.$$

Since $\mathcal{E}_t[u] \leq \mathcal{E}[u]$, this implies back that $\mathcal{E}_t[u] \equiv 0$ for all t > 0.

On the other hand, choose s > 0 so that $\Phi_1(s) > 0$. Then it follows from (2.15) and the lower bound in (2.37) that

$$\mathcal{E}_t [u] \ge \frac{1}{2t^{\alpha/\beta+1}} \Phi_1(s) \int \int_{\{d(x,y) \le st^{1/\beta}\}} (u(x) - u(y))^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x),$$

which yields u(x) = u(y) for μ -almost all x, y such that $d(x, y) \leq st^{1/\beta}$. Since t is arbitrary, we conclude that u is a constant function.

Hence, we have shown that the space $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta'/2}$ consists of constants. However, as it was shown in the proof of Lemma 2.8, the constant functions are not dense in $L^2(M,\mu)$, which finishes the proof.

Corollary 5.3 If the heat kernel p_t satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2(b) then the values of the parameters α and β are the invariants of the metric space (M, d) alone. Moreover, we have

$$\mu \simeq H^{\alpha} \quad and \quad \mathcal{E} \simeq N_{2 \infty}^{\alpha, \beta/2}.$$
 (5.4)

Consequently, both measure μ and the energy form \mathcal{E} are determined (up to a factor $\simeq 1$) by the metric space (M, d) alone.

Proof. By Corollary 2.14, α is the Hausdorff dimension of M and, hence, is the invariants of (M, d). Furthermore, measure μ is comparable with the Hausdorff measure H^{α} so that measure μ in the definition of the Besov spaces can be replaced by H^{α} . Hence, the critical exponent β^* of the family of the Besov spaces is the invariant of the metric space (M, d) alone. By Theorem 5.2(b), we have $\beta = \beta^*$, which implies that β is determined by (M, d) as well.

The relations (5.4) follow from Corollaries 2.14 and 4.2. Finally, since measure μ in the definition of the seminorm $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ can be replaced by the Hausdorff measure H^a , the seminorm $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\beta/2}$ is determined by the metric space structure alone, whence the same holds for the energy \mathcal{E} .

Assume that there are two heat kernels $p_t^{(i)}(x, y)$, i = 1, 2, on a metric measure spaces $(M, d, \mu^{(i)})$ where the underlying metric space (M, d) is the same but measures $\mu^{(1)}$ and $\mu^{(2)}$ may be different. Let $\mathcal{E}^{(i)}$, i = 1, 2, be the corresponding energy forms. Assume that each heat kernel $p_t^{(i)}$ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2(b) with parameters $\alpha^{(i)}$ and $\beta^{(i)}$, respectively. Then it follows from Corollary 5.3 that $\alpha^{(1)} = \alpha^{(2)}$, $\beta^{(1)} = \beta^{(2)}$, $\mu^{(1)} \simeq \mu^{(2)}$, and $\mathcal{E}^{(1)} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{(2)}$. Let us show an example of application of this result.

Example 5.4 Consider in \mathbb{R}^n the Gauss-Weierstrass heat kernel

$$p_t(x,y) = \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{n/2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}\right)$$

and its generator $\mathcal{L} = -\Delta$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the Lebesgue measure. Then $\alpha = n, \beta = 2$, and

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx.$$

Consider now another elliptic operator in \mathbb{R}^n :

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{m(x)} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \right), \qquad (5.5)$$

where m(x) and $a_{ij}(x)$ are continuous functions, m(x) > 0 and the matrix $(a_{ij}(x))$ is positive definite. The operator \mathcal{L} is symmetric with respect to measure

$$d\mu = m\left(x\right)dx,$$

and its energy form is

$$\mathcal{E}\left[u\right] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a_{ij}\left(x\right) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} dx.$$

Let d(x, y) = |x - y| and assume that the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ of \mathcal{L} satisfies the conditions of Theorem 5.2(b). Then we conclude by Corollary 5.3 that α and β must be the same as for the Gauss-Weierstrass heat kernel, that is, $\alpha = n$ and $\beta = 2$; moreover, measure μ must be comparable to the Lebesgue measure, which implies that $m \simeq 1$, and the energy form must admit the estimate

$$\mathcal{E}[u] \simeq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx,$$

which implies that the matrix $(a_{ij}(x))$ is uniformly elliptic. Hence, the operator \mathcal{L} is uniformly elliptic. By Aronson's theorem (see [1], [45]), we obtain that the heat kernel of \mathcal{L} satisfies the estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \simeq \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\left(-c\frac{|x-y|^2}{t}\right).$$
(5.6)

The conclusion is that the estimate (5.6) for the operator (5.5) holds if and only if $m \simeq 1$ and $(a_{ij}(x))$ is uniformly elliptic (assuming that \mathcal{L} is stochastically complete). As far as we know, the necessity part of this statement is a new result.

5.2 Inequalities for the walk dimension

Definition 5.5 We say that a metric space (M, d) satisfies the *chain condition* if there exists a (large) constant C such that for any two points $x, y \in M$ and for any positive integer n there exists a sequence $\{x_i\}_{i=0}^n$ of points in M such that $x_0 = x, x_n = y$, and

$$d(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le C \frac{d(x, y)}{n}, \quad \text{for all } i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1.$$
 (5.7)

The sequence $\{x_i\}_{i=0}^n$ is referred to as a chain connecting x and y.

For example, the chain condition is satisfied if (M, d) is a *length space*, that is if the distance d(x, y) is defined as the infimum of the length of all continuous curves connecting x and y, with a proper definition of length. On the other hand, the chain condition is not satisfied if M is a locally finite graph, and d is the graph distance.

Recall that the critical exponent $\beta^* = \beta^*(M, d, \mu)$ of the family of Besov spaces $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ was defined by (5.1).

Theorem 5.6 ([32]) Let (M, d, μ) be a metric measure space.

(a) If $0 < \mu(B(x,r)) < \infty$ for all $x \in M$ and r > 0, and

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \le Cr^{\alpha} \tag{5.8}$$

for all $x \in M$ and $0 < r \leq 1$ then

$$\beta^* \ge 2. \tag{5.9}$$

(b) If the space (M, d) satisfies the chain condition and

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \simeq r^{\alpha} \tag{5.10}$$

for all $x \in M$ and $0 < r \leq 1$ then

$$\beta^* \le \alpha + 1. \tag{5.11}$$

Observe that the chain condition is essential for the inequality $\beta^* \leq \alpha + 1$ to be true. Indeed, assume for a moment that the claim of Theorem 5.6(b) holds without the chain condition, and consider a new metric d' on M given by $d' = d^{1/\gamma}$ where $\gamma > 1$. Let us mark by a dash all notions related to the space (M, d', μ) as opposed to those of (M, d, μ) . It is easy to see that $\alpha' = \alpha \gamma$ and $N'_{\sigma\gamma} = N_{\sigma}$; in particular, the latter implies $\beta^{*'} = \beta^* \gamma$. Hence, if Theorem 5.6 could be applied to the space (M, d', μ) it would yield $\beta^* \gamma \leq \alpha \gamma + 1$ which implies $\beta^* \leq \alpha$ because γ may be taken arbitrarily large. However, there are spaces with $\beta^* > \alpha$, for example SG.

Clearly, the metric d' does not satisfy the chain condition; indeed the inequality (5.7) implies

$$d'(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le C \frac{d'(x, y)}{n^{1/\gamma}},$$
(5.12)

which is not good enough. Note that if in the inequality (5.7) we replace n by $n^{1/\gamma}$ then the proof below will give $\beta^* \leq \alpha + \gamma$ instead of $\beta^* \leq \alpha + 1$.

Corollary 5.7 Let p_t be a stochastically complete heat kernel on a metric measure space (M, d, μ) that satisfies the estimate (2.37) where $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0.

(a) If for some $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\alpha+\beta+\varepsilon} \Phi_{2}\left(s\right) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty \tag{5.13}$$

then $\beta \geq 2$.

(b) If (M, d) satisfies the chain condition and

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} s^{\alpha} \Phi_{2}\left(s\right) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty \tag{5.14}$$

then $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$.

(c) If (M,d) satisfies the chain condition and for some $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} s^{2\alpha+1+\varepsilon} \Phi_2\left(s\right) \frac{ds}{s} < \infty \tag{5.15}$$

then

$$2 \le \beta \le \alpha + 1. \tag{5.16}$$

Note that by Lemma 2.7, the condition (5.15) can occur only for a local Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} . The set of couples (α, β) satisfying (5.16) is shaded on Fig. 8.

By [7], any couple of α, β satisfying (5.16) can be realized for the heat kernel estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{d^\beta(x,y)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right),$$
(5.17)



Figure 8: The set $2 \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$

with a local Dirichlet form.

In the case of a non-local form, we can only claim by Corollary 5.7(b) that

 $0 < \beta \le \alpha + 1.$

In fact, any couple α, β in the range $0 < \beta < \alpha + 1$ can be realized for the estimate

$$p_t\left(x,y\right) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{d\left(x,y\right)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}$$

Indeed, if \mathcal{L} is the generator of a diffusion with parameters α and β satisfying (5.17) then the operator \mathcal{L}^{δ} , $\delta \in (0, 1)$, generates a jump process with the walk dimension $\beta' = \delta\beta$ and the same α (cf. Lemma 4.4). Clearly, β' can take any value from $(0, \alpha + 1)$. We do not know whether the walk dimension for a non-local form can be equal to $\alpha + 1$.

Proof of Corollary 5.7. (a) By Theorems 2.11(a) and 5.6(a) we have $\beta^* \ge 2$, and by Theorem 5.2(b) we have $\beta = \beta^*$, whence $\beta \ge 2$.

(b) By Theorems 2.11(b) and 5.6(b) we have $\beta^* \leq \alpha + 1$, and by Theorem 5.2(a) we have $\beta \leq \beta^*$, whence $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$.

(c) By part (b), we have $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$. Therefore, (5.15) implies (5.13), and by part (a) we obtain $\beta \geq 2$.

Corollary 5.8 Let (M, d) satisfy the chain condition and p_t be a stochastically complete heat kernel on (M, d, μ) such that

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(5.18)

Then $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$.

Proof. As in the proof of Corollary 2.12, the estimate (5.18) implies that function Φ satisfies (5.14) and $\Phi(s) > 0$ for some s > 0, whence the claim follows by Corollary 5.7(*b*).

Proof of Theorem 5.6(a). It suffices to show that $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,1}$ is dense in $L^2 = L^2(M,\mu)$. Let u be a Lipschitz function with a bounded support A. Let A_r be the closed r-neighborhood of A. If L is the Lipschitz constant of u then, for any $r \in (0,1]$,

$$D_{2}(u,r) = \int_{M} \int_{B(x,r)} |u(x) - u(y)|^{2} d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\leq \int_{A_{r}} \int_{B(x,r)} Lr^{2} d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\leq Cr^{\alpha+2} \mu(A_{r}).$$

It follows that

$$\sup_{0 < r \le 1} \frac{D_2(u, r)}{r^{\alpha + 2}} < \infty,$$

whence we conclude that $u \in \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,1}$.

Let now A be any bounded closed subset of M. For any positive integer n, consider the function on M

$$f_n(x) = (1 - nd(x, A))_+,$$

which is Lipschitz and is supported in $A_{1/n}$. Hence, $f_n \in \Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,1}$. Clearly, $f_n \to 1_A$ in L^2 as $n \to \infty$, whence it follows that $1_A \in \overline{\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,1}}$, where the bar means closure in L^2 . Since the linear combinations of the indicator functions of bounded closed sets form a dense subset in L^2 , it follows that $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,1} = L^2$, which was to be proved.

We precede the proof of Theorem 5.6(b) by a lemma.

Lemma 5.9 Let $\{x_i\}_{i=0}^n$ be a sequence of points in a metric space (M,d) such that for some $\rho > 0$ we have $d(x_0, x_n) > 2\rho$ and

$$d(x_i, x_{i+1}) < \rho \quad for \ all \ i = 0, 1, ..., n-1.$$
(5.19)

Then there exists a subsequence $\{x_{i_k}\}_{k=0}^l$ such that

- (a) $0 = i_0 < i_1 < \dots < i_l = n;$
- (b) $d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_{k+1}}) < 5\rho$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., l 1;
- (c) $d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_j}) \ge 2\rho$ for all distinct k, j = 0, 1, ..., l.

The significance of conditions (a), (b), (c) is that a sequence $\{x_{i_k}\}_{k=0}^l$ satisfying them gives rise to a chain of balls $B(x_{i_k}, 5\rho)$ connecting the points x_0 and x_n in a way that each ball contains the center of the next one whereas the balls $B(x_{i_k}, \rho)$ are disjoint. This is similar to the classical ball covering argument, but additional difficulties arise from the necessity to maintain a proper order in the set of balls.

Proof. Let us say that a sequence of indices $\{i_k\}_{k=0}^l$ is *good* if the following conditions are satisfied:

$$(a') \ 0 = i_0 < i_1 < \dots < i_l;$$

- (b') $d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_{k+1}}) < 3\rho$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., l-1;
- $(c') \ d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_j}) \ge 2\rho$ for all distinct k, j = 0, 1, ..., l.

Note that a good sequence does not necessarily have $i_l = n$ as required in condition (a). We start with a good sequence that consists of a single index $i_0 = 0$, and will successively redefine it to increase at each step the value of i_l . A terminal good sequence will be used to construct a sequence satisfying (a), (b), (c).

Assuming that $\{i_k\}_{k=0}^l$ is a good sequence, define the following set of indices

$$S := \{s : i_l < s \le n \text{ and } d(x_s, x_{i_k}) \ge 2\rho \quad \text{for all } k \le l\},\$$

and consider two cases.

Set S is non-empty. In this case we will redefine $\{i_k\}$ to increase i_l . Let m be the minimal index in S. Therefore, m-1 is not in S, whence we have either $m-1 \leq i_l$ or

$$d(x_{m-1}, x_{i_k}) < 2\rho \quad \text{for some } k \le l \tag{5.20}$$

(see Fig. 9). In the first case, we have in fact $m - 1 = i_l$ so that (5.20) also holds (with k = l).



Figure 9: Illustration to the proof of Lemma 5.9

By (5.20) and (b') we obtain, for the same k as in (5.20),

$$d(x_m, x_{i_k}) \le d(x_m, x_{m-1}) + d(x_{m-1}, x_{i_k}) < 3\rho.$$

Now we modify the sequence $\{i_j\}$ as follows: keep $i_0, i_1, ..., i_k$ as before, forget the previously selected indices $i_{k+1}, ..., i_l$, and set $i_{k+1} := m$ and l := k + 1.

Clearly, the new sequence $\{i_k\}_{k=0}^l$ is also good, and the value of i_l has increased (although l may have decreased). Therefore, this construction can be repeated only a finite number of times.

Set S is empty. In this case, we will use the existing good sequence to construct a sequence satisfying conditions (a), (b), (c). The set S can be empty for two reasons:

- either $i_l = n$
- or $i_l < n$ and for any index s such that $i_l < s \le n$ there exists $k \le l$ such that $d(x_s, x_{i_k}) < 2\rho$.

In the first case the sequence $\{i_k\}_{k=0}^l$ already satisfies (a), (b), (c), and the proof is finished. In the second case, choose the minimal $k \leq l$ such that $d(x_n, x_{i_k}) < 2\rho$ (see Fig. 10).



Figure 10: Illustration to the proof of Lemma 5.9

The hypothesis $d(x_n, x_0) \ge 2\rho$ implies $k \ge 1$, and we obtain from (b')

$$d(x_n, x_{i_{k-1}}) \le d(x_n, x_{i_k}) + d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_{k-1}}) < 5\rho.$$

By the minimality of k, we have also $d(x_n, x_{i_j}) \ge 2\rho$ for all j < k. Hence, we define the final sequence $\{i_j\}$ as follows: keep i_0, i_1, \dots, i_{k-1} as before, forget i_k, \dots, i_l , and set $i_k := n$ and l := k. Then this sequence satisfies (a), (b), (c).

Let A be a subset of M of finite measure, that is $\mu(A) < \infty$. Then any function $u \in L^2$ is integrable on A, and let us set

$$u_A := \frac{1}{\mu(A)} \int_A u \, d\mu$$

For any two measurable sets $A, B \subset M$ of finite measure, the following identity takes place

$$\int_{A} \int_{B} |u(x) - u(y)|^{2} d\mu(x) d\mu(y)$$

$$= \mu(A) \int_{B} |u - u_{B}|^{2} d\mu + \mu(B) \int_{A} |u - u_{A}|^{2} d\mu + \mu(A) \mu(B) |u_{A} - u_{B}|^{2},$$
(5.21)

which is proved by a straightforward computation.

=

Proof of Theorem 5.6(b). The hypothesis (5.10) implies that the space $L^2(M, \mu)$ is ∞ -dimensional. The inequality $\beta^* \leq \alpha + 1$ will follow from (5.1) if we show that, for any $\sigma > \frac{\alpha+1}{2}$, the space $\Lambda_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ contains only constants, that is, $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) < \infty$ implies $u \equiv \text{const.}$ By definition (3.5) of $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}$ and (5.10) we have, for any $0 < r \leq 1$,

$$N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) \ge cr^{-2\sigma-\alpha} \iint_{\{d(x,y) < r\}} |u(x) - u(y)|^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x).$$
(5.22)

Fix some $0 < r \le 1$ and assume that we have a sequence of disjoint balls $\{B_k\}_{k=0}^l$ of the same radius $0 < \rho < 1$, such that for all k = 0, 1, ..., l - 1

$$x \in B_k$$
 and $y \in B_{k+1} \implies d(x,y) < r.$ (5.23)

Then (5.22), (5.21), and (5.10) imply

$$N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) \geq cr^{-2\sigma-\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \int_{B_k} \int_{B_{k+1}} |u(x) - u(y)|^2 d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$\geq cr^{-2\sigma-\alpha} \rho^{2\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} |u_{B_k} - u_{B_{k+1}}|^2.$$
(5.24)

By the chain condition, for any two distinct points $x, y \in M$ and for any positive integer n there exists a sequence of points $\{x_i\}_{i=0}^n$ such that $x_0 = x, x_n = y$, and

$$d(x_i, x_{i+1}) < C \frac{d(x, y)}{n} := \rho$$
, for all $0 \le i < n$.

Assuming that n is large enough so that $d(x, y) > 2\rho$ and $\rho < 1/7$, we obtain by Lemma 5.9 that there exists a subsequence $\{x_{i_k}\}_{k=0}^l$ (where of course $l \leq n$) such that $x_{i_0} = x$, $x_{i_l} = y$, the balls $\{B(x_{i_k}, \rho)\}$ are disjoint, and

$$d(x_{i_k}, x_{i_{k+1}}) < 5\rho, \tag{5.25}$$

for all k = 0, 1, ..., l - 1.

Applying (5.24) to the balls $B_k := B(x_{i_k}, \rho)$ and setting $r = 7\rho < 1$ (which together with (5.25) ensures (5.23)) we obtain

$$N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) \geq c\rho^{-2\sigma+\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} |u_{B_k} - u_{B_{k+1}}|^2$$

$$\geq c\rho^{-2\sigma+\alpha} \frac{1}{l} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{l-1} |u_{B_k} - u_{B_{k+1}}| \right)^2$$

$$\geq c\rho^{-2\sigma+\alpha} \frac{1}{n} |u_{B_0} - u_{B_l}|^2$$

$$\geq c\rho^{-2\sigma+\alpha+1} \frac{|u_{B(x,\rho)} - u_{B(y,\rho)}|^2}{d(x,y)}.$$
(5.26)

By the Lebesgue theorem, we have, for μ -almost all $x \in M$,

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} u_{B(x,\rho)} = u(x), \tag{5.27}$$

It follows from (5.26) and (5.27) as $n \to \infty$ (that is, as $\rho \to 0$) that, for μ -almost all $x, y \in M$,

$$\frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{d(x, y)} \le C N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha, \sigma}(u) \lim_{\rho \to 0} \rho^{2\sigma - \alpha - 1}.$$

Since $2\sigma > \alpha + 1$ and $N_{2,\infty}^{\alpha,\sigma}(u) < \infty$, the above limit is equal to 0 whence $u \equiv \text{const.}$

6 Two-sided estimates in the local case

6.1 The Dirichlet form in subsets

Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be a Dirichlet form in a metric measure space (M, d, μ) . Let \mathcal{L} be the generator of \mathcal{E} and consider the corresponding heat semigroup $P_t = e^{-t\mathcal{L}}, t \geq 0$. Denote by R_{λ} , $\lambda > 0$, the resolvent operator of \mathcal{L} , that is,

$$R_{\lambda} = \left(\mathcal{L} + \lambda \mathbf{I}\right)^{-1}.$$

For any open subset $\Omega \subset M$, let $\mathcal{F}_0(\Omega)$ be the set of functions from \mathcal{F} whose support is compact and is contained in Ω . Then define $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ as the closure of $\mathcal{F}_0(\Omega)$ in \mathcal{F} with respect to the \mathcal{E}_1 -norm. It follows that any function from $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ vanishes in Ω^c and, hence, can be identified as an element of $L^2(\Omega)$. If $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ is dense in $L^2(\Omega)$ then $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(\Omega))$ is a Dirichlet form in $L^2(\Omega)$. In this case, denote by \mathcal{L}^{Ω} , P_t^{Ω} , R_{λ}^{Ω} respectively the generator, the heat semigroup, and the resolvent of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(\Omega))$. If $f \in L^2(M)$ then set $P_t^{\Omega} f := P_t^{\Omega}(f|_{\Omega})$ and $R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} f := R_{\lambda}^{\Omega}(f|_{\Omega})$.

In general $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ need not be dense in $L^2(\Omega)$. However, if the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is regular, that is, $C_0(M) \cap \mathcal{F}$ is dense both in \mathcal{F} and $C_0(M)$ then $\mathcal{F}_0(\Omega)$ is obviously dense in $L^2(\Omega)$. In this case, $\mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ coincides with the closure of $\mathcal{F} \cap C_0(\Omega)$ in \mathcal{F} , and $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(\Omega))$ is also a regular Dirichlet form (see [24, Corollary 2.3.1, p.95 and Theorem 4.4.2, p.154]).

6.2 Maximum principles

We cite here two lemmas referring to [31, Appendix] for their proofs.

We say that a function $w \in \mathcal{F}$ satisfies the inequality $\mathcal{L}w \leq f$ weakly in an open set $\Omega \subset M$ where $f \in L^2(\Omega)$, if, for any non-negative function $\varphi \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega)$

$$\mathcal{E}(w,\varphi) \le (f,\varphi)_{L^2}.$$

Similar one defines the opposite inequality and equality. For example, if $f \in L^2(M)$ and $w = R_{\lambda}f$ then w satisfies the equation

$$\mathcal{L}w + \lambda w = f$$

weakly in any open set $\Omega \subset M$.

Lemma 6.1 Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be a local regular the Dirichlet form in (M, d, μ) . Let $\Omega \subset M$ be a precompact open set and $\lambda > 0$. If a function $w \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$ is such that $0 \leq w \leq 1$ in Ω and w satisfies weakly in Ω the inequality

$$\mathcal{L}w + \lambda w \le 0, \tag{6.1}$$

then

$$w \le 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \text{ in } \Omega.$$
(6.2)

Lemma 6.2 Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be a regular Dirichlet form in (M, d, μ) . For any open subset $U \subset M$, for any compact set $K \subset U$, for any non-negative function $f \in L^2(M)$, for all t > 0, and for μ -almost all $x \in M$, we have

$$0 \le P_t f(x) - P_t^U f(x) \le \sup_{s \in [0,t]} \operatorname{essup}_{K^c} P_s f.$$
(6.3)

6.3 A tail estimate

If B = B(x, r) then we use αB as a shorthand for $B(x, \alpha r)$.

Theorem 6.3 ([28], [31]) Assume that $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is a regular conservative Dirichlet form in $L^2(M, \mu)$ and let all metric balls in M be precompact. Fix $\beta > 0$. The following conditions are equivalent:

(i) For any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists K > 0 such that, for any t > 0 and any ball $B = B(x_0, r)$ with $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \le \varepsilon \text{ a.e. } in \ \frac{1}{4}B. \tag{6.4}$$

(ii) For any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists K > 0 such that, for any t > 0 and any ball $B = B(x_0, r)$ with $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$,

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge 1 - \varepsilon \quad \text{a.e. in} \quad \frac{1}{4}B. \tag{6.5}$$

(iii) For any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ there exists K > 0 such that, for any $\lambda > 0$ and any ball $B = B(x_0,r)$ with $r \ge K\lambda^{-1/\beta}$,

$$\lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B} \ge 1 - \varepsilon \quad \text{a.e. in } \frac{1}{4}B.$$
(6.6)

Remark 6.4 If the heat semigroup P_t possesses the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ then the condition (*i*) can be equivalently stated as follows: for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ there exists K > 0 such that, for all t > 0, $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$, and almost all $x \in M$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq \varepsilon.$$
(6.7)

Indeed, for any ball $B(x_0, r)$ and for almost all $x \in B(x_0, r/4)$ (or even $x \in B(x_0, r/2)$), we have

$$P_{t}\mathbf{1}_{B(x_{0},r)^{c}}(x) = \int_{B(x_{0},r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) \, d\mu(y) \leq \int_{B(x,r/2)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) \, d\mu(y) \,,$$

so that (6.7) implies (6.4) (with K being replaced by 2K). Similarly, for almost all $x \in B(x_0, r/2)$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq \int_{B(x_{0},r/2)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) = P_{t} \mathbf{1}_{B(x_{0},r/2)^{c}}(x),$$

so that (6.4) implies (6.7), for almost all $x \in B(x_0, r/8)$. Covering M by a countable family of balls of radius r/8, we obtain that (6.7) holds for almost all $x \in M$.

Proof of Theorem 6.3. $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$. Applying the estimate (6.3) of Lemma 6.2 to function $f = \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B}$, we obtain that

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B}(x) \ge P_t \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B}(x) - \sup_{s \in [0,t]} \operatorname{essup}_{\left(\frac{3}{4}B\right)^c} P_s \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B},$$
(6.8)

for all t > 0 and a.e. $x \in M$. For any $x \in \frac{1}{4}B$, we have that $B(x, r/4) \subset \frac{1}{2}B$ (see Fig. 11). Using (6.4) and the identity $P_t 1 = 1$ a.e., we obtain, for any $x \in \frac{1}{4}B$,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} = 1 - P_t \mathbf{1}_{\left(\frac{1}{2}B\right)^c} \ge 1 - P_t \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r/4)^c}.$$

Applying the hypothesis (i) for the ball B(x, r/4), we obtain that

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r/4)^c} \leq \varepsilon$$
 a.e. in $B(x,r/16)$,

provided

$$\frac{r}{4} \ge K t^{1/\beta} \tag{6.9}$$



Figure 11: Illustration to the proof of $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$

with sufficiently large K. It follows that, for any $x \in \frac{1}{4}B$,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \ge 1 - \varepsilon$$
 a.e. in $B(x, r/16)$,

whence

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \ge 1 - \varepsilon \text{ a.e. in } \frac{1}{4}B.$$
(6.10)

On the other hand, for any $y \in \left(\frac{3}{4}B\right)^c$, we have $\frac{1}{2}B \subset B(y,r/4)^c$ (see Fig. 11)), whence

$$P_s \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \le P_s \mathbf{1}_{B(y,r/4)^c}$$

Applying the hypothesis (i) for the ball B(y, r/4) at time s, we obtain that if (6.9) holds for sufficiently large K then, for all $0 < s \leq t$,

$$P_s \mathbf{1}_{B(y,r/4)^c} \le \varepsilon$$
 a.e. in $B(y,r/16)$.

It follows that, for any $y \in \left(\frac{3}{4}B\right)^c$,

$$P_s \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \leq \varepsilon ext{ a.e. in } B(y, r/16),$$

whence

$$P_s \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \le \varepsilon \text{ a.e. in } \left(\frac{3}{4}B\right)^c.$$
 (6.11)

Combining (6.8), (6.10) and (6.11), we obtain that, under the condition (6.9),

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge P_t^B \mathbf{1}_{\frac{1}{2}B} \ge 1 - 2\varepsilon \quad \text{a.e. in } \frac{1}{4}B, \tag{6.12}$$

which is equivalent to (6.5).

 $(ii) \Rightarrow (iii)$. By (ii), we have (6.5) provided $t \leq (r/K)^{\beta}$ whence

$$\lambda R^B_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_B = \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} P^B_t \mathbf{1}_B dt \ge \lambda \int_0^{(r/K)^\beta} e^{-\lambda t} P^B_t \mathbf{1}_B dt \ge (1-\varepsilon) \left(1-e^{-\lambda (r/K)^\beta}\right),$$

which holds almost everywhere in $\frac{1}{4}B$. If

$$\lambda \left(\frac{r}{K}\right)^{\beta} \ge \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \tag{6.13}$$

then we obtain

$$\lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B} \ge (1-\varepsilon)^{2} \text{ a.e. in } \frac{1}{4}B,$$

which is equivalent to (6.6). The condition (6.13) is equivalent to

$$r \ge K \left(\frac{\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}}{\lambda}\right)^{1/\beta},\tag{6.14}$$

which can be assumed to be true by the hypothesis of (iii).

 $(iii) \Rightarrow (i)$. Let us first show that, for all $t, \lambda > 0$,

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge 1 - e^{\lambda t} \left(1 - \lambda R_\lambda^B \mathbf{1}_B \right).$$
(6.15)

Indeed, using the facts that $P_s^B \mathbf{1}_B \leq \mathbf{1}_B$ and

$$P_{s+t}^B \mathbf{1}_B = P_t^B \left(P_s^B \mathbf{1}_B \right) \le P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B,$$

we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \lambda R^B_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_B &= \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} P^B_s \mathbf{1}_B \, ds \\ &= \lambda \int_0^t e^{-\lambda s} P^B_s \mathbf{1}_B \, ds + \lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda s} P^B_s \mathbf{1}_B \, ds \\ &\leq \left(1 - e^{-\lambda t}\right) + \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda(s+t)} P^B_{s+t} \mathbf{1}_B \, ds \\ &\leq 1 - e^{-\lambda t} + e^{-\lambda t} P^B_t \mathbf{1}_B, \end{split}$$

thus giving (6.15).

Given $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, t > 0 and $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$ (where K is defined by the hypothesis (*iii*)), choose λ from the condition $r = K\lambda^{-1/\beta}$. Then it follows from (6.6) and (6.15) that

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_B \ge P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge 1 - \varepsilon e^{\lambda t}$$
 a.e. in $\frac{1}{4}B$.

Using $P_t 1 \leq 1$ and observing that

$$\lambda t \le \lambda \left(\frac{r}{K}\right)^{\beta} = 1,$$

we obtain

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} = 1 - P_t \mathbf{1}_B \le \varepsilon e^{\lambda t} \le \varepsilon e \text{ a.e. in } \frac{1}{4}B,$$

which is equivalent to (6.4).

The following statement is an extension of Theorem 6.3 in the case of a local Dirichlet form.

Theorem 6.5 ([28], [31]) Assume that all the hypotheses of Theorem 6.3 hold, and in addition that the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is local. Then each of the conditions (i), (ii), (iii) of Theorem 6.3 is equivalent to the following:

(iv) There are c, C > 0 such that, for all $\lambda, t > 0$ and any ball $B = B(x_0, r)$,

$$\operatorname{essup}_{\frac{1}{2}B} P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \le C \exp\left(\lambda t - cr\lambda^{1/\beta}\right).$$
(6.16)

Remark 6.6 If in addition the heat semigroup P_t possesses the heat kernel $p_t(x, y)$ then the condition (iv) can be equivalently stated as follows: for all $\lambda, t, r > 0$ and for almost all $x \in M$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq C \exp\left(\lambda t - cr\lambda^{1/\beta}\right)$$
(6.17)

(cf. Remark 6.4). If $\beta > 1$ then taking $\lambda = \left(\frac{cr}{2t}\right)^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}$, we obtain from (6.17)

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq C \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{r^{\beta}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right).$$

Proof of Theorem 6.5. Let us first prove that $(iv) \Rightarrow (i)$. Assuming that $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$ and setting $\lambda = 1/t$, we obtain

$$\lambda t - cr\lambda^{1/\beta} = 1 - cK.$$

Hence, the right hand side of (6.16) can be made arbitrarily small, provided K is big enough, which yields (6.4).

Now we prove the main implication $(iii) \Rightarrow (iv)$. This proof is rather long and will be split into five steps.

Step 1. We claim that, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists K > 0 with the following property: if a function $w \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$ is such that $0 \le w \le 1$ in a ball $B = B(x_0, r)$ and w satisfies weakly in B the equation

$$\mathcal{L}w + \lambda w = 0,$$

where $\lambda > 0$ and r are related by

$$r \ge K\lambda^{-1/\beta},$$

then

$$w \leq \varepsilon$$
 a.e. in $\frac{1}{4}B$.

Indeed, since the Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is local and the ball is precompact, we have by Lemma 6.1 that

$$w \leq 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B}$$
 a.e. in B .

By (iii), we have

$$\lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B} \geq 1 - \varepsilon ext{ a.e. in } rac{1}{4}B,$$

provided $r \geq K\lambda^{-1/\beta}$, where K is now defined by the condition (*iii*). Combining the above two lines, we finish the proof of the claim.

Step 2. Let us show that there exists c > 0 such that, for any ball $B = B(x_0, r)$ and any $\lambda > 0$,

$$\operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0,\delta)} \left(\lambda R_{\lambda} 1_{B^c}\right) \le \exp\left(-cr\lambda^{1/\beta} + 1\right),\tag{6.18}$$

where $\delta = \delta(\lambda) > 0$. Choose some R > 4r and consider the functions

$$\phi = \mathbf{1}_{B(x_0,R) \setminus B(x_0,r)}$$

and

$$u = \lambda R_\lambda \phi. \tag{6.19}$$

It suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0,\delta)} u \le \exp\left(-cr\lambda^{1/\beta} + 1\right),\tag{6.20}$$

and then let $R \to \infty$. Since $0 \le \varphi \le 1$ and $\phi \in L^2(M)$, we have $0 \le u \le 1$ on M, $u \in \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{F}$, and u satisfies in M the equation

$$\mathcal{L}u + \lambda u = \lambda \phi. \tag{6.21}$$

It suffices to assume that

$$cr \ge \lambda^{-1/\beta},$$
 (6.22)

(where c > 0 is to be specified later) because otherwise (6.20) is trivially satisfied due to $u \leq 1$.

Let $n \ge 2$ be an integer to be determined later on. For any $1 \le i \le n$, set $r_i = \frac{ir}{n}$,

$$b_i = \operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0, r_i)} u,$$

and, for $1 \leq i < n$,

$$w_i(x) = \frac{u(x)}{b_{i+1}}$$

Clearly, $w_i \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$. Since $\phi = 0$ in $B(x_0, r)$, it follows from (6.21) that

$$\mathcal{L}w_i + \lambda w_i = 0$$
 weakly in $B(x_0, r)$.

By definition of b_{i+1} , we have $0 \le w_i \le 1$ in $B(x_0, r_{i+1})$. In particular, the same inequality holds in any ball $B(x, r_1)$ for any $x \in B(x_0, r_i)$ (see Fig. 12).

Therefore, by Step 1 with $\varepsilon = e^{-1}$, we have that

$$w_i \le e^{-1}$$
 a.e. in $B\left(x, \frac{1}{4}r_1\right)$,

provided

$$r_1 \ge K\lambda^{-1/\beta},\tag{6.23}$$

for an appropriate constant K. It follows that

$$\operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0,r_i)} w_i \le e^{-1}$$

that is,

$$b_i \le e^{-1} b_{i+1}. \tag{6.24}$$



Figure 12: Balls $B(x_0, r_i)$ and $B(x_0, r_{i+1})$

Before we proceed further, let us make sure that the condition (6.23) is satisfied. Since $r_1 = r/n$, it is equivalent to

$$n \leq rac{r\lambda^{1/eta}}{K},$$
 $n = \left[rac{r\lambda^{1/eta}}{K}
ight].$

Choosing in (6.22) $c = \frac{1}{2K}$, we obtain that $n \ge 2$. Note also that

$$n \ge 2cr\lambda^{1/\beta} - 1.$$

Now, iterating (6.24) and using the fact that $b_n \leq 1$, we obtain

$$b_1 \le e^{-(n-1)} b_n \le e^{-n/2} \le \exp\left(-cr\lambda^{1/\beta} + 1\right).$$

Clearly, this implies (6.20), where δ can be anything $\leq r_1 = \frac{r}{n}$; for example, set $\delta = K\lambda^{-1/\beta}$.

Let us note that the iteration argument in this part of the proof is motivated by that in [34] for the setting of infinite graphs.

Step 3. Let us show that there is $K \ge 1$ such that for any ball $B = B(x_0, r)$ with

$$r \ge K\lambda^{-1/\beta},\tag{6.25}$$

we have

so that we can choose

$$\operatorname{essinf}_{(2B)^c} \left(\lambda R_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_{B^c}\right) \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$
(6.26)

Indeed, for any $x \in (2B)^c$, we have $B(x,r) \subset B^c$, whence by the condition (*iii*),

$$\lambda R_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \ge \lambda R_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r)} \ge \frac{1}{2} ext{ a.e. in } B\left(x, \frac{1}{4}r\right).$$

provided (6.25) is satisfied with an appropriate K. Hence, (6.26) follows.

Step 4. Let us show that, for any non-negative function $f \in L^{\infty}(M)$, the function $u = \lambda R_{\lambda} f$ satisfies the inequality

$$P_t u \le e^{\lambda t} u \quad \text{in } M. \tag{6.27}$$

for arbitrary $t, \lambda > 0$. Indeed, we have

$$P_t u = \lambda \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} P_{t+s} f \, ds$$

= $\lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda(s-t)} P_s f \, ds$
= $e^{\lambda t} \lambda \int_t^\infty e^{-\lambda s} P_s f \, ds \le e^{\lambda t} u.$

Step 5. Finally, let us prove (6.16). Let c be the same as in (6.18) (Step 2), so that for any $\lambda > 0$ and for $u = \lambda R_{\lambda} 1_{B^c}$,

$$\operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0,\delta)} u \le \exp\left(-cr\lambda^{1/\beta} + 1\right).$$
(6.28)

Let $\lambda > 0$ be such that (6.25) is satisfied. Then it follows from (6.26) that

$$u \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{1}_{(2B)^c} \text{ in } M.$$

Applying P_t to the both sides of this inequality and using (6.27), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}P_t \mathbf{1}_{(2B)^c} \le P_t u \le e^{\lambda t} u, \tag{6.29}$$

which together with (6.28) yields

$$\operatorname{essup}_{B(x_0,\delta)} P_t \mathbf{1}_{(2B)^c} \le C \exp\left(\lambda t - cr\lambda^{1/\beta}\right), \tag{6.30}$$

where C = 2e.

If λ is such that (6.25) fails, that is, $r < K\lambda^{-1/\beta}$ then (6.30) holds trivially with $C = e^{cK}$. Hence, (6.30) holds for all $\lambda > 0$, which is equivalent to (6.16).

6.4 Identifying Φ in the local case

Now we can state and prove the main result.

Theorem 6.7 ([33]) Assume that the metric space (M, d) satisfies the chain condition and all metric balls are precompact. Let $p_t(x, y)$ be a stochastically complete heat kernel in a metric measure space (M, d, μ) . Assume that the associated Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is regular, and the following estimate holds with some $\alpha, \beta > 0$ and $\Phi : [0, +\infty) \rightarrow [0, +\infty)$:

$$p_t(x,y) \asymp \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \Phi\left(c\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
(6.31)

Then the following dichotomy holds:

- either the Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is local, $2 \leq \beta \leq \alpha + 1$, and $\Phi(s) \asymp C \exp\left(-cs^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}\right)$.
- or the Dirichlet form \mathcal{E} is non-local, $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$, and $\Phi(s) \simeq (1+s)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}$.

Proof. By Corollary 5.8, we have $\beta \leq \alpha + 1$. If the form \mathcal{E} is non-local, then, by Corollary 2.10, Φ satisfies (2.33), which finishes the proof in this case.

Assume now that the form \mathcal{E} is local. By Lemma 2.8, the lower bound in (6.31) implies that (2.28), that is,

$$\Phi(s) \le C \left(1+s\right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}.$$
(6.32)

By Corollary 2.11, we have for all balls

$$\mu\left(B\left(x,r\right)\right)\simeq r^{\alpha}.\tag{6.33}$$

Let us show that, for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there is K > 0 such that, for all t > 0, $r \ge Kt^{1/\beta}$ and almost all $x \in M$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq \varepsilon.$$
(6.34)

Indeed, using (6.31) and (6.33), we obtain as in the proof of Theorem 2.11(b)

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) \, d\mu(y) \leq C \int_{\frac{1}{2}r/t^{1/\beta}}^{\infty} s^{\alpha} \Phi(s) \frac{ds}{s}.$$
(6.35)

Since by (6.32) the integral in the right hand side of (6.35) converges, we see that the integral can be made smaller than ε provided $r/t^{1/\beta}$ is large enough, which was claimed.

The heat semigroup $\{P_t\}$ satisfies all the hypotheses of Theorems 6.3 and 6.5. Since the condition (i) of Theorem 6.3 is satisfied by (6.34), we conclude by Theorem 6.5 that, for all $t, r, \lambda > 0$ and for μ -a.a. $x \in M$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq C \exp\left(\lambda t - cr\lambda^{1/\beta}\right).$$
(6.36)

If $\beta < 1$ then letting in (6.36) $\lambda \to \infty$, we obtain that the right hand side in (6.36) goes to 0. Letting then $r \to 0$, we obtain that, for almost all $x \in M$,

$$\int_{M\setminus\{x\}}p_{t}\left(x,y\right)d\mu\left(y\right)=0.$$

Together with stochastic completeness, this implies that there is a point $x \in M$ of a positive mass, which is impossible by Remark 2.9. This contradiction proves that $\beta \geq 1$.

Setting in (6.36)

$$\lambda = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{cr}{2t}\right)^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}, & \text{if } \beta > 1, \\ t^{-1}, & \text{if } \beta = 1 \end{cases}$$

we obtain that, for all positive r, t and almost all $x \in M$,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^{c}} p_{t}(x,y) d\mu(y) \leq \begin{cases} C \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{r^{\beta}}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right), & \text{if } \beta > 1\\ C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{t}\right), & \text{if } \beta = 1 \end{cases}$$
(6.37)

(where the constants c, C may be different from those of (6.36)).

By (2.2), we have, for all t > 0, almost all $x, y \in M$, and $r := \frac{1}{2}d(x, y)$,

$$\begin{array}{lcl} p_t \left(x, y \right) & = & \int_M p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(x, z \right) p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(z, y \right) d\mu(z) \\ & \leq & \left(\int_{B(x,r)^c} + \int_{B(y,r)^c} \right) p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(x, z \right) p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(z, y \right) d\mu(z) \\ & \leq & \operatorname{essup}_{z \in M} p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(z, y \right) \int_{B(x,r)^c} p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(x, z \right) d\mu(z) \\ & & + \operatorname{essup}_{z \in M} p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(x, z \right) \int_{B(y,r)^c} p_{\frac{t}{2}} \left(y, z \right) d\mu(z). \end{array}$$

Since by (6.31) esssup $p_t \leq Ct^{-\alpha/\beta}$, combining this with (6.37) we obtain, for almost all $x, y \in M$,

$$p_{t}(x,y) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{d^{\beta}(x,y)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right), & \text{if } \beta > 1\\ \frac{C}{t^{\alpha}} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{t}\right), & \text{if } \beta = 1 \end{cases}$$
(6.38)

Now we use Corollary 5.7(a). By (6.31) and (6.38), the heat kernel satisfies the two-sided estimates (2.37) with the following functions:

$$\Phi_{1}\left(s\right):=C\Phi\left(cs\right)$$

and

$$\Phi_{2}\left(s\right) := \begin{cases} C \exp\left(-cs^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}\right), & \text{if } \beta > 1, \\ C \exp\left(-cs\right), & \text{if } \beta = 1. \end{cases}$$

As was mentioned above, the heat kernel cannot identically vanish off the diagonal, which implies that $\Phi_1(s) > 0$ for some s > 0. Function Φ_2 clearly satisfies the hypothesis (5.13) of Corollary 5.7(a). Hence, we conclude by Corollary 5.7(a) that $\beta \geq 2$.

If $\beta \geq 2$ (in fact, $\beta > 1$ is enough), then the standard chaining argument using the chain condition (cf. [2], [32, Corollary 3.5]) shows that the lower bound in (6.31) implies the lower bounds

$$p_t(x,y) \ge \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \exp\left(-c\left(\frac{d^\beta(x,y)}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta-1}}\right).$$
(6.39)

Combining (6.38) and (6.39) with (6.31), we obtain

$$\Phi(s) \asymp C \exp\left(-cs^{\frac{\beta}{\beta-1}}\right),$$

which finishes the proof. \blacksquare

References

- Aronson D.G., Bounds for the fundamental solution of a parabolic equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 73 (1967) 890-896.
- [2] Aronson D.G., Non-negative solutions of linear parabolic equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa. Cl. Sci. (4), 22 (1968) 607-694. Addendum 25 (1971) 221-228.

- [3] Aronszajn N., Smith K.T., Theory of Bessel potentials. Part 1., Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble, 11 (1961) 385-475.
- [4] Auscher P., Coulhon T., Grigor'yan A., ed., "Heat kernels and analysis on manifolds, graphs, and metric spaces", Contemporary Mathematics 338, AMS, 2003.
- [5] Auscher P., Hofmann S., Lacey M., McIntosh A., Tchamitchian Ph., The solution of the Kato square root problem for second order elliptic operators on ℝⁿ, Ann. of Math., 156 (2002) no.2, 633–654.
- [6] Barlow M.T., Diffusions on fractals, in: "Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics, Ecole d'été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXV - 1995", Lecture Notes Math. 1690, Springer, 1998. 1-121.
- Barlow M.T., Which values of the volume growth and escape time exponent are possible for graphs?, Revista Matemática Iberoamericana, 40 (2004) 1-31.
- [8] Barlow M.T., Bass R.F., The construction of the Brownian motion on the Sierpisnki carpet, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, 25 (1989) 225-257.
- Barlow M.T., Bass R.F., Transition densities for Brownian motion on the Sierpinski carpet, Probab. Th. Rel. Fields, 91 (1992) 307–330.
- [10] Barlow M.T., Bass R.F., Brownian motion and harmonic analysis on Sierpinski carpets, Canad. J. Math., 54 (1999) 673-744.
- [11] Barlow M.T., Coulhon T., Grigor'yan A., Manifolds and graphs with slow heat kernel decay, Invent. Math., 144 (2001) 609-649.
- [12] Barlow M.T., Perkins E.A., Brownian motion on the Sierpinski gasket, Probab. Th. Rel. Fields, 79 (1988) 543–623.
- [13] Bendikov A., Asymptotic formulas for symmetric stable semigroups, Expo. Math., 12 (1994) no.4, 381-384.
- [14] Bendikov A., Symmetric stable semigroups on the infinite dimensional torus, Expo. Math., 13 (1995) 39-80.
- [15] Berger M., Gauduchon P., Mazet E., Le spectre d'une variété riemanniennes, Lecture Notes Math. 194, Springer, 1971.
- [16] Chung F.R.K., Grigor'yan A., Yau S.-T., Upper bounds for eigenvalues of the discrete and continuous Laplace operators, Advances in Math., 117 (1996) 165-178.
- [17] Chung F.R.K., Grigor'yan A., Yau S.-T., Higher eigenvalues and isoperimetric inequalities on Riemannian manifolds and graphs, Comm. Anal. Geom, 8 (2000) no.5, 969-1026.
- [18] Coulhon T., Off-diagonal heat kernel lower bounds without Poincaré, J. London Math. Soc., 68 (2003) no.3, 795–816.
- [19] Davies E.B., "One-parameter semigroups", Academic Press, 1980.
- [20] Davies E.B., "Heat kernels and spectral theory", Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [21] Davies E.B., Heat kernel bounds, conservation of probability and the Feller property, J. d'Analyse Math., 58 (1992) 99-119.
- [22] Evans L.C., "Partial differential equations", Graduate Studies in Mathematics 19, AMS, 1997.
- [23] Falconer K. J., "The geometry of fractal sets", Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [24] Fukushima M., Oshima Y., Takeda M., "Dirichlet forms and symmetric Markov processes", Studies in Mathematics 19, De Gruyter, 1994.
- [25] Goldstein S., Random walks and diffusion on fractals, in: "Percolation theory and ergodic theory on infinite particle systems", I.M.A. vol. in Math. & Appl., Ed. H.Kesten, Springer, New York, 1987. 121-129.
- [26] Grigor'yan A., Gaussian upper bounds for the heat kernel on arbitrary manifolds, J. Diff. Geom.,
 45 (1997) 33-52.
- [27] Grigor'yan A., Heat kernels and function theory on metric measure spaces, in: "Heat kernels and analysis on manifolds, graphs, and metric spaces", Contemporary Mathematics, **338** (2003) 143-172.
- [28] Grigor'yan A., Heat kernel upper bounds on fractal spaces, preprint
- [29] Grigor'yan A., Heat kernels on weighted manifolds and applications, Contemporary Mathematics, 398 (2006) 93-191.

- [30] Grigor'yan A., Hsu, Elton P., Volume growth and escape rate of Brownian motion on a Cartan-Hadamard manifold, in: "Sobolev Spaces in Mathematics II", Ed. V. Maz'ya, International Mathematical Series 9, Springer, 2009. 209-225.
- [31] Grigor'yan A., Hu J., Off-diagonal upper estimates for the heat kernel of the Dirichlet forms on metric spaces, *Invent. Math.*, **174** (2008) 81-126.
- [32] Grigor'yan A., Hu J., Lau K.S., Heat kernels on metric-measure spaces and an application to semi-linear elliptic equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 355 (2003) no.5, 2065-2095.
- [33] Grigor'yan A., Kumagai T., On the dichotomy in the heat kernel two sided estimates, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, 77 Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, (2008) 199-210.
- [34] Grigor'yan A., Telcs A., Sub-Gaussian estimates of heat kernels on infinite graphs, Duke Math. J., 109 (2001) no.3, 452-510.
- [35] Grigor'yan A., Telcs A., Harnack inequalities and sub-Gaussian estimates for random walks, Math. Ann., 324 no.3, (2002) 521-556.
- [36] Grigor'yan A., Yau S.-T., ed., "Eigenvalues of Laplacians and other geometric operators", Surveys in Differential Geometry IX, International Press, 2004.
- [37] Jones O.D., Transition probabilities for the simple random walk on the Sierpinski graph, Stoch. Proc. Appl., 61 (1996) 45-69.
- [38] Jonsson A., Brownian motion on fractals and function spaces, Math. Zeitschrift, **222** (1996) 495-504.
- [39] Jorgenson J., Lynne, W., editors, "The ubiquitous heat kernel. Papers from a special session of the AMS Meeting held in Boulder, CO, October 2–4, 2003", Contemporary Mathematics 398, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006.
- [40] Kigami J., "Analysis on fractals", Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [41] Kusuoka S., A dissusion process on a fractal, in: "Probabilistic methods in Mathematical Physics, Taniguchi Symp., Katana, 1985", Ed. K.Ito and N.Ikeda, Kinokuniya-North Holland, Amsterdam, 1987. 251-274.
- [42] Li P., Yau S.-T., On the parabolic kernel of the Schrödinger operator, Acta Math., 156 (1986) no.3-4, 153-201.
- [43] Mandelbrot B.B., "The fractal geometry of nature", W.H.Freeman, San Francisco, 1982.
- [44] Pietruska-Pałuba K., On function spaces related to fractional diffusion on d-sets, Stochastics and Stochastics Reports, 70 (2000) 153-164.
- [45] Porper F.O., Eidel'man S.D., Two-side estimates of fundamental solutions of second-order parabolic equations and some applications, (in Russian) Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, 39 (1984) no.3, 101-156. Engl. transl.: Russian Math. Surveys, 39 (1984) no.3, 119-178.
- [46] Stós A., Symmetric α-stable processes on d-sets, Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci. Math., 48 (2000) 237-245.
- [47] Strichartz R.S., Function spaces on fractals, to appear in J. Funct. Anal.
- [48] Varadhan S.R.S., On the behavior of the fundamental solution of the heat equation with variable coefficients, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 20 (1967) 431-455.
- [49] Varopoulos N.Th., Saloff-Coste L., Coulhon T., "Analysis and geometry on groups", Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 100, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [50] Zolotarev V.M., "One-dimensional stable distributions", Transl. Math. Monographs 65, Amer. Math. Soc., 1986.